
 

Boston Borough Council 
 

Chief Executive 
Rob Barlow 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 

  
Friday, 10 January 2025 
 

 
Notice of meeting of the Full Council 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Full Council 
on Monday, 20th January, 2025 at 6.30 pm 

in the Council Chamber - Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 
 

 
Rob Barlow 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers except 

during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 
 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Part I - Preliminaries  

 
A. Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 

B. Declarations of Interest  
 

C. Minutes (Pages 1 - 18) 
 
To agree the minutes of the of Full Council meeting held on 11th November 2024. 
 

D. Communications  
 

E. Deputations and Petitions  
 

F. Questions from Elected Members  
 

G. Questions from Members of the Public  
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Part II - Agenda Items  
 

1 Members' Allowances Scheme (Pages 19 - 40) 
 
(A report by the Independent Remuneration Panel) 
 

2 Audit & Governance Committee Minutes (Pages 41 - 46) 
 
To receive the draft Minutes from the meeting held on 18th November 2024. 
 

3 Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25 (Pages 47 - 76) 
 
(A report by Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate Development (S151)) 
 

4 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 (Pages 77 - 102) 
 
(A report by Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate Development (S151)) 
 

5 Outside Body Appointment - Appointment of Director to Public Sector Partnership 
Services Ltd (Pages 103 - 106) 
 
(A report by John Medler, Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring Officer) 
 

Part III - Motions on Notice  
 

To consider the following motions in accordance with procedure rule 14: 
 

1 Supporting our Farmers  
 
We the undersigned hereby request that the following Motion be submitted to the 
meeting of the Council on the 20th of January in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 14:-  
 
Motion: Supporting our Farmers 
 
Council notes that:   
 

• Boston Borough has a proud history of standing up for our farmers, and the 
deep connection to the land they farm. 

• Many farmers are asset rich only so the impact will be family farms will need to 
sell land to pay the tax - making some farms unviable. 

• Inheritance Tax reliefs like APR (Agricultural Property Relief) reduce the amount 
of tax farmers and landowners have to pay when farmland is passed to the next 
generation after a death. This helps farms stay within the family to allow them to 
continue to look after the countryside and produce food for the country. 

• The Labour government has now announced it will change the rules for 
Inheritance Tax, including APR and BPR (Business Property Relief) on farmland 
and business assets. This means an effective tax rate of 20% on agricultural 
assets valued over £1 million, this can include buildings and machinery. 

• The NFU President has summarised the situation by saying “Farmers are rightly 
angry and concerned about their future and for the future of their family farms, 
having been reassured by ministers in the lead up to the budget that APR and 
BPR changes were not on the table.” 



 

Council believes that:  
 

• The recent 2024 Autumn Budget change to Inheritance Tax relief announced by 
the Labour Government will introduce a Family Farm Tax and will have a 
detrimental impact on farmers’ ability to pass on their farms to the next 
generation. 

• While the government claims that the new threshold means three-quarters of 
farms will not be impacted by the change, the NFU believes this is an 
underestimate and that up to half of all working farms, possibly more, could be 
impacted by the new tax rules. 

• The new tax rules could discourage people from buying farmland and renting it 
out to farmers. This could lead to less land being available for farming and more 
being used for other purposes 

• At a time when many farmers in Boston Borough are struggling with soaring 
costs and energy prices, this sudden tax rise will damage the future of their 
farms and destroy confidence in the agricultural community. 

 
Council resolves   
 

• That the Leader of the Council writes to the Secretary of State for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs, to outline the Council’s dismay at the decision in the 
Budget to restrict Agricultural Property Relief and calls on the Government to 
stop the Family Farm Tax. 

• That the Portfolio Holder for Communities hold a meeting with local farmers and 
community representatives to consider ways the Council can provide support to 
them. 

• That the council advertise support available to farmers on our website, via social 
media and ask parish councils to do the same. 

 
Proposer: Councillor James Cantwell  
Seconder: Councillor Stuart Evans 
 

2 Community Governance Review  
 
We the undersigned hereby request that the following Motion be submitted to the 
meeting of the Council on the 20th of January in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 14:- 
 
Motion: Community Governance Review 
 
Council notes that:   
 

• The Government on 16th December has made clear its intentions to abolish two-
tier local councils by the end of this Parliament, with bids for alternative 
arrangements expected in the Autumn of 2025 and new Councils taking office in 
2027 or 2028. Whatever we feel about this, the Ministerial statement-of-intent is 
clear and firm. Whether we like it or not, the Boston Borough Council as a 
‘District Council’ will cease to exist within the next two to four years.  

• There may well be much debate as to what the future shape of local government 
in Lincolnshire will look like- whether that is a single unitary covering the current 
LCC area, or whether it is two or three smaller units instead. Either way, the town 



 

of Boston will find itself a part of a much bigger Council than it has been 
privileged to enjoy since 1974. 
 

Council believes that:  
 

• Local Government Re-organisation is happening so all of the previous 
assumptions against a Town Council for Boston undermining or duplicating the 
work of the current Borough Council are erased. Indeed, a successor Town 
Council would have to be established to give proper local democratic 
representation once the Borough ‘District Council’ is abolished. 

• All of the Charters and the Borough Status must be preserved and arrangements 
put in place to ensure that they may transfer to a successor Town Council and 
avoid the tragedy of Rochester which lost its ancient City Status through errors 
during reorganisation. 

• It is far easier to make the right decisions and transfer all which belongs to 
Boston while the Borough Council exists and has full power to implement such 
transfers; it is far easier to do this if there is a Town Council set up and running 
and in a position to receive these at its very beginning. Should all these assets 
go to a Council based in Lincoln or Sleaford or Spalding, getting them back 
again for the ‘Town and People’ of Boston will be so much more complicated.  

• For these reasons, Town Council should be created with all speed, and vested 
with all that it should be while there is still the time and chance to do it. Boston 
Borough Council cannot stop Local Government Re-organisation, but it can- 
while it still has full power- make sure that whatever comes afterwards it has left 
a legacy of which all Members can be rightly proud, and done right by the Town 
and People of Boston which will echo down the generations to come. 

 
Council resolves:   
 

• The Council instructs the Chief Executive to expedite a Community Governance 
Review for the Unparished area of Boston (the BTAC area), with a view to 
creating a new Town Council for Boston to take office at the earliest possible 
juncture. 

• This Council instructs the Chief Executive- in consultation with Cabinet, Audit & 
Governance, and Scrutiny Committees- to identify and list those Assets 
(including any Charter Rights and the Borough status) currently belonging to 
Boston Borough Council which, by rights or tradition belong to the Town and 
People of Boston, and which must be transferred to that Town Council before 
Local Government Reorganization processes alienate them from our town to 
another, distant, Unitary authority. 

 
Proposer: Councillor James Cantwell  
Seconder: Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 

clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is 
5 p.m. on Wednesday 15th January 2025. 

 
 
 
 



 

Notes: 
 
Please contact Democratic Services (demservices@boston.gov.uk) if you have any queries 
about the agenda and documents for this meeting. 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Democratic Services as 
soon as possible. 
 
Alternative Versions 
 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille 
or a specific language, please telephone 01205 314591. 

mailto:demservices@boston.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Boston Borough Council 
 
 

 
-1- 

Minutes of a meeting of the Full Council held in the Council Chamber - Municipal 
Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR on Monday, 11th November, 2024 at 6.30 pm. 
 
Present: 
 
The Mayor Councillor Helen Staples, in the Chair. 
Councillors Suzanne Welberry (Deputy Mayor), Jyothi Arayambath, Alison Austin, 
Richard Austin BEM, John Baxter, Peter Bedford, David Brown, Dale Broughton, 
Callum Butler, James Cantwell, Emma Cresswell, Anton Dani, Anne Dorrian, Neil Drayton, 
Stuart Evans, Sandeep Ghosh, Mike Gilbert, Paul Gleeson, Andy Izard, Patricia Marson, 
David Middleton, Barrie Pierpoint, Ralph Pryke, Lina Savickiene, David Scoot, 
Sarah Sharpe and Stephen Woodliffe. 
 
Officers: 
Chief Executive, Interim Deputy Chief Executive – Programme Delivery and Assistant 
Director - Assets, Assistant Director - Governance and Monitoring Officer, Democratic 
Services Manager and Democratic Services Team Leader. 
 
 

36 Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Chris Mountain and Claire Rylott. 
 

37 Declarations of Interest 
 
No interests were declared. 
 

38 Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of Full Council held on 16th September 2024 were agreed and 
signed by the Mayor. 
 

39 Communications 
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that there were no communications. 
 

40 Deputations and Petitions 
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that no deputations or petitions had been received. 
 

41 Questions from Elected Members 
 
The Chief Executive advised that the following questions had been received: 
 
Question to Councillor John Baxter from Councillor James Cantwell 
 
Is the Cabinet Member concerned about amount of energy related planning applications 
and the impact on The Five Villages Ward? 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item C.



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-2- 

Response from Councillor John Baxter 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Cantwell for notice of his question. 
 
As Portfolio Holder for Planning I do share a concern about the number and scale of some 
of the proposed energy related planning applications in the District. 
 
As Members will be aware a number of these projects are Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs). These projects are determined by the Secretary of State, 
rather than the District Council. As Portfolio Holder for Planning, I will ensure that our 
planning officers are fully engaged and understand the policy issues and challenges that 
these proposals raise. It is critical that the environmental impacts of these proposals are 
fully appraised. 
 
Where applications are submitted to the Council as Local Planning Authority, these will be 
dealt with in the usual professional manner by the team, in accordance with local and 
national policy and our scheme of delegation. 
 
Where members have any specific concerns, I encourage them to speak to either Phil 
Norman as AD for Planning or Abbie Marwood as Deputy Development Manager. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor John Baxter from Councillor James Cantwell 
 
My residents have found this borough's response to the numerous projects painfully silent. 
This administration's neutrality on renewable energy projects damaging our countryside 
and our area is certainly a sign of the weaknesses of its leadership. Why are you so silent 
on this? And will you meet with myself, Councillor Brown, Bicker Parish councillors and 
residents to discuss the support we need on Bicker Fen as well. 
 
Response from Councillor John Baxter 
 
Thank you, Councillor Cantwell for your supplementary question. 
 
Sometimes I do things quietly. I can assure you that I have been to nearly every 
consultation. The other week, I went to Bicker Village Hall to talk to the guys there from the 
National Grid about the national project there, and chatted to some of the residents. Fair 
enough I didn't have my badge, but I explained the other work as well. If you remember, 
there was a question in the Council here from Council Rylott to Councillor Dorrian where 
we expressed our concern about the National Grid, the pylons, and in effect we have 
lobbied MPs etc. This of course means, well, some of these are permitted development. 
 
They come from national government and also the Secretary of State. I can assure you 
that I have been to Midville to the National Grid consultation with Councillor Butler. 
 
I've been involved with Councillor Sharp and Councillor Butler. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-3- 

We've been to the outer dowsing projects with some of these. We've talked about local 
people being employed. We've talked about the community projects. If you remember, I 
sent you an e-mail councillor to say, had you heard about some of the community projects 
you could tap into. So, I accept what you're saying, but I'm afraid I don't agree with the fact 
that we're not concerned. Thank you. 
 
Question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor James Cantwell 
 
Can the Leader please update the Council on the progress of the LGA Peer Challenge 
Action Plan? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Cantwell for notice of his question. 
 
I was very grateful to the two scrutiny committees for holding a joint meeting to help shape 
the final Action Plan.  In the Action Plan we specified that every six months an update 
would be provided to scrutiny and that update will be due early in the New Year. If you had 
wanted more regular updates, you had the opportunity to specify that at the time. In the 
interim, I have regular meetings with officers to ensure that we are on track and making 
progress; and I am pleased to say that the Action Plan is well into delivery, with several 
actions already completed and the vast majority that remain outstanding are on track. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor James 
Cantwell 
 
Thank you, Councillor Dorrian for not answering the question I asked. 
 
On Appendix A of the peer challenge report, on the bottom of page 15 and the top of page 
16, I will read a quote: 
 
“The Peer Team had examples of councillor and officer roles and responsibilities being 
blurred. Peers heard concerns that at times councillor's behaviour have fallen short of 
expected standards and staff need to feel supported by senior officers in challenging such 
situations, it will be important for Boston Borough Council to take steps to reset 
relationships and behaviours to foster a culture of strong, respectful, open and honest 
councillor / officer working.” 
 
I would like to ask on that, Madam leader, it has now been many months since that report 
was issued and the action plan has begun to take effect. Why have no administration 
members been removed for this disgusting lack of standards as a councillor? And will 
there be consequences for those inside your own group who treat officers with such 
disrespect? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I'd like to start with the point of personal explanation, just to educate Councillor Cantwell 
that I did in fact answer your question and I answered it very eloquently. As I am apt to do. 
 

Page 3



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-4- 

I would also like you to know that on the paragraph that you read, and I reported this to the 
Joint Scrutiny Committee at the time, perhaps you fell asleep, perhaps you weren't paying 
attention, perhaps you were being a naughty schoolboy that night, but I reported to the 
joint scrutiny that I had only one instance of inappropriate member conduct come to me 
personally regarding an officer and I reported it to the Monitoring Officer at the time. So I 
would like you to withdraw the rest of your scurrilous accusations, because that's exactly 
what they are. And if you haven't learned yet, Councillor Cantwell, it's a reason you are 
sitting over there and we are sitting over here. Because of comments like that. 
 
Question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
When will the Independent Panel’s report on Councillor Allowances be presented to 
Councillors?  Submissions to the Panel were requested to be submitted by 31st July 2024, 
three months ago, so the Panel has the evidence to come to a decision on parity with the 
other two councils in the Partnership.  It’s now time for a decision. 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel will be presenting a report to Full Council in 
January. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
It is a fact that the ward sizes in ELDC and SHDC are significantly greater than those in 
Boston, but all three councils have similar numbers of committees (circa 20). As there are 
significantly fewer Boston councillors compared with the other two, Boston’s councillors 
must make a significantly greater commitment than the other two and thus are entitled at 
least equivalent remuneration. Do you agree? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I will provide a written response to Councillor Woodliffe, thank you. 
 
[A copy of the written response is appended to the Minutes.] 
 
Question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
I have detected little public enthusiasm for the proposed Rosegarth development.  What 
plans do you have to reassure the public that this development will indeed prove to be 
money well-spent and an asset to Boston? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
We understand that public confidence and enthusiasm are crucial for the success of any 
redevelopment project. The Rosegarth Square development is designed with the 

Page 4



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-5- 

community's best interests at heart, aimed at enhancing the quality of life for residents and 
invigorating the local economy. 
 
To reassure the public, we have comprehensive plans to continue to engage with the 
community throughout the development process and with that enthusiasm will continue to 
grow. We are committed to demonstrating that the Rosegarth Square development is not 
only a sound investment but a project that will enhance the vibrancy and resilience of the 
area. 
 
Value for money is a key consideration. We will follow public contract rules, will work with 
reputable consultants and contractors and carry out independent value for money 
assessments as we plan and deliver works within this area. We are regenerating one of 
the key gateways from the train and bus station to the town centre. Regeneration which 
goes well beyond public realm improvements will be a catalyst for wider regeneration. Our 
plans utilise funding allocated from Government and involve addressing long running 
issues caused by having empty buildings falling quickly into disrepair and dereliction. 
 
With the other sub projects of the Rosegarth Square masterplan, i.e. B&M and Crown 
House these interventions will be long term assets to Boston. The public realm is only the 
start of regenerating this area, it is one of 3 sub-projects within the Rosegarth Square 
masterplan that will be the catalyst to wider regeneration. And it is that regeneration and 
the capitalisation of it that is the biggest asset to Boston. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
Isn’t this project really a waste of resources given that there are so many other pressing 
needs for our Borough? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
No, I disagree with you Councillor Woodliffe. It's not a waste of resources. The funding 
was given to this Council by the Government and we had a choice in the matter. We could 
either take the funding and regenerate an area of our town that's really been neglected for 
generations,  or we could give the money back and do nothing. And my administration 
decided that no, we would run with these projects. We didn't conceive the projects, they 
weren’t initially thought out by us, it was a previous administration, but when we inherited 
them, the decision was very clear that we had to take that money from Government and 
make the best use of it that we can. 
 
I fully understand the frustration that our residents have, and I'm sure you read social 
media, as I do. Our residents see potholes that need to be filled, they see highways that 
are overgrown with weeds and shrubs, and they get frustrated that those things can’t be 
addressed, but yet we're going to be spending all this money on a public realm. But we 
have to understand that when the funding was allocated to the Council, it was within very 
strict parameters and try as we might, and comms are here tonight, we keep trying to 
educate the public and tell them that, you know, the funding has very strict criteria we have 
to spend there or give it back. We can't just use it any way we choose. So, we've chosen 
to go with the project, and I'd like to think that perhaps in two years time you'll stand up 

Page 5



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-6- 

and ask a question that will say ‘do you know what Councillor Dorrian that area is looking 
really lovely and long may it continue’. 
 
Question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Referencing the reply you received from our new Member of Parliament, Richard Tice MP, 
do you consider that the ten recommendations contained within his letter to be helpful in 
improving commercial confidence within Boston’s town centre? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
As you know, the relationship between the sitting MP and the Leader of the Council is an 
important one and is one which should be above party politics. Just as I cultivated and 
enjoyed a good working relationship with Matt Warman, so too, am I developing a 
productive working relationship with Richard Tice. 
 
In my reply to Richard’s letter, which I believe you have a copy of, I was able to point out 
the many actions and strategies that this administration have introduced since we took 
control of the council in May 2023, many of which are very similar to his thoughts and 
ideas. I am delighted that he in in sync with our approach. In being so new to the role, it is 
understandable that Richard wasn’t completely up to speed on every single detail and it is 
incumbent upon me to ensure that he has all the necessary information so that he is best 
positioned to be active in the national space, helping us seek funding for our town’s place-
shaping activity. Notably, our accomplishments have been achieved despite the national 
challenges faced by towns such as Boston. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
A senior retired Police Officer has told me that as PCSOs do not have the power of arrest, 
that private security firms have no powers beyond that available to any ordinary citizen and 
that only uniformed Police Officers can handcuff and detain.  Do you consider that our 
residents would support a private security firm patrolling the streets of Boston, as 
suggested by our new MP, or would they prefer that to be done by the Police? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
Well actually, without going out to consultation, I would hate to speak for the whole of the 
residents of Boston, but I think that there's a reason that PCSO’s don't have the power of 
arrest and it's because the police and Crime Commissioner, perhaps the Government at 
large, don't want to blur the lines between what is an enforcement role and what is more of 
a supportive role, and the PCSO’s occupy that space very much as being more supportive 
and community focused in their jobs as PCSO. So too, then are our Town Rangers, and so 
although there is a company that Richard Tice suggested we engage with, we have invited 
them to come to have a look at the town and give us a quote to see what they would 
charge, but I would far rather keep our Town Rangers in the role that they're currently 
doing, which is to support the Police. They can help with arrests, as and when required, 

Page 6



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-7- 

but I wouldn't want that to be their sole function. I think they’re far better in that community 
space and being supportive to our residents, but thank you for the question. 
 
Question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
When the original Boston Leisure Centre proposals were presented to Councillors in 
March 2022, I requested that the project be sent to a Scrutiny Committee prior to a vote at 
Full Council.  You will recall that that request was rejected by the Chief Officer on the 
grounds of insufficient time and so the project was dispatched for approval at Full Council 
without appropriate scrutiny.  However, our Chief Officer did confirm that there would be 
opportunities for scrutiny going forward but to this date there appear to have been none.  It 
lies within your power to recommend that all the projects where Boston Borough Council is 
the accountable body that appropriate scrutiny will take place at the earliest opportunity. 
Will you do that? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
The Boston Leisure Centre project will be monitored carefully, along with the other 
Levelling Up Projects, on a monthly basis. This is being done by a project management 
group, which is comprised of senior officers, me and the Chair of the Town Board; and it is 
expected that project leads will provide regular updates on their progress. I am more than 
willing to ensure that all Members are kept informed periodically through member briefings 
and communications, at the appropriate stages of the project’s delivery.  Each scrutiny 
committee has the authority to set its own work programme and to summon officers and 
portfolio holders to report on their respective projects and I am certain that the relevant 
officers would be happy to attend any such committee, as and when required. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
There is vast difference between Member Briefings and a Scrutiny Committee 
investigation. 
 
Do you agree with me that all projects where Boston Borough Council is the accountable 
body should be subject to exacting scrutiny? 
 
Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
Yes, I do agree with you, Councillor Woodliffe. I do think that we're the accountable body, 
it’s a significant amount of funding. They should be subject to exacting scrutiny. 
 
I don't want to impose on the Chairs of scrutiny. They are very accomplished, experienced 
politicians. Very accomplished, experienced chairs that we are lucky to have. So I am 
more than happy for them to call any project they wish to their committees. They can set 
up a joint committee if they wish. They can not only summon myself, my cabinet members 
and out senior officers, they can also, Madam Mayor, summon the leads on various 
projects, from Boston College, from Chestnut Homes, from Destination Lincolnshire. I'd be 

Page 7



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-8- 

more than happy to support that, but it's for the Scrutiny Chairs to design their own work 
programme in consultation with their committees. 
 
Question to Councillor Sandeep Ghosh from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Are all the Levelling-Up Funds in the Borough Council’s possession or not? If not, when 
will all the funds be in the Borough Council’s coffers? 
 
Response from Councillor Sandeep Ghosh 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
Please note that Pranali and I raised the receipt of the funding with MHCLG. It has not 
been received, but it is expected imminently. There is no risk to the funding. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Sandeep Ghosh from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
What contingences have you set in motion to cover any possible change in Government 
policy? 
 
Response from Councillor Sandeep Ghosh 
 
The funding is secured, as I mentioned just now, and we have regular meetings with 
MHCLG to ensure we can respond to policy changes. Thank you. 
 
Question to Councillor Sandeep Ghosh from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
I note from the report to be presented tonight (Agenda Item 6) that the projected capital 
cost of the Boston Leisure Centre project is identical to the cost presented to Full Council 
on 29th March 2022, namely £7.14m.  The funding arrangements appear to have changed 
but not the projected cost.  Is that assumption correct? 
 
Response from Councillor Sandeep Ghosh 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
That assumption isn’t correct, no. The overall project budget and current cost estimate 
details are set out at paras 2.12-2.14 of the report considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 
31st October 2024 and outlined below. The further £7m LUP funding now secured 
addresses both the funding gap between the original estimated (£7.14m) cost of the 
project and the subsequent preferred construction partner tender bid that was received 
(circa £10m) ; and a requirement from MHCLG to incorporate a community volunteering 
and wellbeing hub within the scheme. 
 
The total capital cost for the overall revised scope of the project is now £14,645,823 and 
will be funded, as noted below.   
  
 
 

Page 8



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-9- 

2.12  In securing LUP funding, the revised project budget is summarised below: 
 

• Town Deal funding (original)       £2,425,092 

• Town Deal funding (plaza)          £574,566 (inc. £74,566 community art project) 

• LUP funding                              £7,000,000 

• BBC Capital funding                 £4,720,731 (agreed by Full Council 6 March 2023) 
 
Total project funds                           £14,645,823 (exc. art project funding) 
  
2.13  Project spend to date equates to approx. £884,295 leaving a balance of approx. 
£13,761,528 to complete the delivery of the project. 
  
2.14  In reviewing the required project deliverables, it is intended that the project will 
ensure the delivery of: 

• Boston Leisure Project (Est £10.34m inc. contingency and client-side costs) 

• Project Fitness Equipment (Est £250k) 

• GMLC Capital Renewal Items (details being confirmed) 

• Community Volunteer and Wellbeing Hub (using balance of available funding) 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Sandeep Ghosh from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
According to the Building Cost Information Service, by 2022 building material costs had 
risen by 43% in two years, with overall costs rising by 24% for the same period, which is 
well in excess of the contingences projected in the original business case.  In 2022, build 
costs increased by nearly 9% and are projected to rise by 15% by 2029 with tendering 
prices rising by 20% over the same period. Given the current volatility of the global 
economy, there is a question about the accuracy of the projected costs and the potential 
liability to Boston Borough Council, should costs exceed current predictions.  Every 
commercial contract will have exceptional circumstances clauses written in. Do you accept 
that there is a serious risk that the eventual cost of the Leisure Centre project could well 
exceed the grants provided by HMG and that set aside by our council? 
 
Response from Councillor Sandeep Ghosh 
 
Thank you, Councillor Woodliffe, for the supplementary. The building industry cost inflation 
has impacted the tender costs received for the Boston Leisure project, hence the need to 
seek additional funding and the subsequent successful bid for LUP funds. The updated 
cost for the main leisure project scheme, including value engineering is due imminently. 
The delivery of that scheme, along with the additional Community, Volunteering and 
Wellbeing Hub element will be completed within the total amount of funding that has now 
been provided for the project. Any further inflationary impacts will be met from within the 
overall funding envelope. Thank you. 
 
Question to Councillor Sandeep Ghosh from Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
 
I note that the Boston400 project is mentioned in the summary of Agenda Item 6 but there 
is no mention of a budget for this prestigious event in the report itself.  The summary 
identifies the Boston400 project as one of the objectives of the funding bid to HMG but the 
budget for this important event is not identified within the report.  Why is that? 

Page 9



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-10- 

Response from Councillor Sandeep Ghosh 
 
I would like to thank Councillor Woodliffe for notice of his question. 
 
One of the objectives of the funding is – supporting the Boston 400 visitor economy. There 
are several projects that will support this objective, including the St Botolph’s Church 
Visitor Offer, Boston Community Research Project, Haven Wharf, and primarily Boston 
Connected delivered by Destination Lincolnshire. 
  
Boston Connected will deliver the digital infrastructure needed for a vibrant and 
competitive visitor economy in Boston. The outcome will be a fully curated visitor 
experience that attracts domestic and international visitors, travel trade and business 
tourism. The investment includes an accessible content management system, enhanced 
destination website, dynamic content, destination management system, digital asset 
library, online travel agent (OTA) booking integrations, data collection, social listening, an 
experience platform, B2B data planning hub, APIs and live event information. It also 
includes interactive wayfinding that tackles the dispersal of people and multilingual/real-
time visitor information in the destination. Boston Connected will be delivered in 
partnership with local businesses, art, culture and heritage partners. It will present Boston 
in a way that has never been possible before and will act as a digital web across all the 
other funded projects; scaling up the visitor experience into a compelling ‘place’ 
proposition for visitors and residents. 
 
Supplementary question to Councillor Sandeep Ghosh from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
What budget has been set aside for the Boston400? 
 
Response from Councillor Sandeep Ghosh 
 
Thank you Councillor Woodliffe, for the supplementary. There is allocation of £50k from 
UKSPF for Boston 400 project. The allocation of £691k from LUP to Destination 
Lincolnshire includes work for developing visitor economy offer for Boston 400 Project. 
 

42 Questions from Members of the Public 
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that no questions had been received from members of the 
public. 
 

43 Audit & Governance Committee Minutes 
 
Councillor Barrie Pierpoint, Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee, presented 
the draft Audit and Governance minutes from the meeting held on 14th October 2024 which 
was for councillors to note. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-11- 

44 Audit and Governance Committee's Annual Report 2023/2024 
 
Councillor Barrie Pierpoint, Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee, presented 
a report by the Assistant Director – Governance & Monitoring Officer which sought 
consideration of the Audit and Governance Committee’s Annual Report 2023/2024, 
attached as Appendix 1 within the report. 
 
Members noted that the progress made by the last 12 months had been very positive. The 
action plan, continuous training, increased knowledge and experience had placed the 
Committee in a very strong position to ensure checks, balances and assurances were all 
in place. Any areas where there had been concerns or issues had been swiftly addressed 
by the officers concerned. Two new independent co-opted members had been appointed 
to the Committee and would be attending their first meeting on 18th November 2024. 
Councillor Pierpoint thanked Committee Members and the Officers involved for their hard 
work. 
 
Members congratulated Councillor Pierpoint for the way he had chaired the Committee 
over the last year.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

45 District Joint Committee 
 
Councillor Anne Dorrian, Leader of the Council, presented a report by the Assistant 
Director – Governance & Monitoring Officer which sought consideration of a proposal to 
establish a District Joint Committee for the purposes of devolution and participation of non-
constituent local authorities at the Greater Lincolnshire Combined County Authority. 
 
It was anticipated that new arrangements would come into existence  
late 2024/early 2025 which would allow for the establishment of the Greater Lincolnshire 
Mayoral Combined County Authority (GLMCCA) with an election of a Greater Lincolnshire 
Mayor taking place in May 2025. The arrangements allowed for the establishment of a 
Joint Committee of the seven districts, non-constituent members, to provide a mechanism 
for participation at the GLMCCA. The proposed Terms of Reference (Appendix A) and 
Standing Orders (Appendix 1) for the District Joint Committee were attached to the report.  
 
Members discussed the report and the following comments were made: 
 

• Concerns were raised regarding the election of a Mayor for Lincolnshire as it had not 
been evidenced that it was what the public actually wanted.  

• Concerns were also raised in respect of the preset powers the Mayor would have, the 
additional tier of Local Government and the potential additional costs to residents. 

• Members noted that the Council had previously rejected the deal. However, the 
importance of Boston Borough Council’s involvement in the Joint Committee was 
recognised. 

• The Leader was committed to working with the elected Mayor, as far as possible, to get 
the best outcomes for the residents of the Borough.  

 

Page 11



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-12- 

The recommendation was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 
Councillor Barrie Pierpoint. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the establishment of a District Joint Committee of the Lincolnshire 

District/Borough Authorities for the purposes of devolution and participation at 
the Greater Lincolnshire Mayoral Combined County Authority be approved; 

 
2. That the Leader of the Council represent Boston Borough Council at the District 

Joint Committee; 
 
3. That the proposed Terms of Reference (Appendix A) and Standing Orders 

(Appendix 1) for the District Joint Committee be approved; and 
 

4. That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive, to approve amendments to 
the Terms of Reference, in consultation with the Leader and Monitoring Officer, 
noting that such amendments shall require the approval of all members of the 
District Joint Committee. 

 
46 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 

 
Councillor Dale Broughton, Deputy Leader of the Council, presented a report by the 
Assistant Director – Regulatory which sought adoption of the proposed Statement of 
Principles in respect of the Gambling Act 2005, as detailed in Appendix 1 within the report. 
 
The purpose of the statement was to provide advice to businesses, operators and the 
public of the Council's overall position with regards to administration and enforcement of 
gambling legislation and to provide a decision making framework for the Council through 
the Licensing Committee. The Gambling Act 2005 delegated responsibility for a number of 
gambling functions to licensing authorities. 
 
Members noted that the Licensing Committee had considered the draft revised statement 
of principles on 24th September 2024 and had resolved that the draft be consulted on in 
accordance with the Gambling Act. Additionally, the Committee had resolved that, should 
the consultation yield no responses, the statement of principles be presented to Full 
Council. 
 
The recommendation was moved by Councillor Dale Broughton and seconded by 
Councillor Anne Dorrian. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Statement of Principles be adopted and published. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-13- 

47 Affordable Housing Capital Scheme 
 
Councillor John Baxter, Portfolio Holder – Housing, presented a report by the Deputy Chief 
Executive – Communities which sought approval to add to the Capital Programme the 
financial capacity to support the delivery of Affordable Housing through the use of 
commuted sums.  
 
The funding was held by the Council, within its reserves, to assist with the delivery of new 
affordable homes. In order to deploy the funding it was necessary to be transferred into the 
Council’s Capital Programme. These funds would be used to deliver affordable housing 
within the borough over the next two to three years. Discussions were underway with 
registered affordable housing in order to identify housing stock within the borough which 
would provide a mixture of accommodation, including general needs, social rented 
properties, rent to buy and shared ownership. 
 
Members discussed the report and the following comments were made: 
 

• There was a significant need for new affordable homes in the borough.  

• Concerns were raised regarding the growth of the population when compared to the 
homes that were available. There were several households within the area that were 
not considered to be fit for purpose. 

• The location of an identified site was queried, but was confirmed to be confidential for 
commercially sensitive reasons.  

• Concerns were raised regarding the amount of residents coming in from the EU for 
work purposes and the fact that many landlords were rumoured to be selling properties 
as a result of the effects of Central Government taxation.  

• Clarity was sought regarding the types of housing that would be available in The 
Quadrant, for which the details were currently commercially sensitive. 

• It was queried whether residents from outside of the borough would be entitled to 
receive affordable housing. 

 
The Portfolio Holder confirmed that there were currently 1253 houses available which were 
allocated on a priority basis. He advised that the types of properties becoming available 
should satisfy the needs of the residents. He also thanked officers for their work on the 
project. 
 
The recommendation was moved by Councillor John Baxter and seconded by 
Councillor Sandeep Ghosh. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the addition of £1,074,000 to the Capital Programme for the purpose of 

supporting the development of Affordable Housing be approved; and 
 

2. That the use of £1,074,000 from the commuted sum affordable housing funding 
held in reserves to support this activity be approved. 

 
 
 
 

Page 13



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-14- 

48 Boston Partnership Funding 
 
Councillor Sandeep Ghosh, Portfolio Holder – Finance, presented a report by the Director 
of Economic Growth which sought the acceptance of Levelling Up Partnership (LUP) 
funding from the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to 
enable the delivery of eight projects. 
 
MHCLG was providing £16,985,760 capital funding and £240,000 revenue funding to the 
Council. The objectives of the funding were to improve community cohesion, support the 
Boston400 visitor economy and improve skills and address health barriers to employment. 
MHCLG had identified eight projects to be delivered by the Council, three directly and five 
projects in partnership with external project leads.  
 
The delivery of the project would be done through a range of partners, including Boston 
College, Destination Lincolnshire, Boston United Football and Sports Complex and 
Lincolnshire Community Voluntary Services. The funding would deliver a range of benefits 
for the town, including affordable homes and improved tourism, offer an enhanced access 
to leisure, health and well-being.  
 
Members noted that the Cabinet would have oversight of the delivery of the projects with 
internal governance and monitoring arrangements in place. 
 
Members discussed the report and the following comments were made: 
 

• Members were encouraged to find that Boston400 had been considered within the 
report, due to its forthcoming anniversary, and noted the following details in that 
democracy was the big contribution that Boston (UK) had made to America and the 
world in general. Democracy had been cemented into place in the 1630s in Boston, 
Massachusetts, by the 12 men and women who came from the local area. They were 
named on the stones either side of the path on the south side of St Botolph's Church. 
Knowing the importance of democracy would help people to engage with the plans for 
Boston400. 

• A suggestion was made to adopt democracy as a theme for the Boston400 
celebrations and to establish a working party of members from all three partnership 
Councils to increase understanding of the plans for Boston400. 

• The Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre facilities were referred to as needing improvement 
and maintenance. It was confirmed that funding from the LUP would be used for it. 

• There was consensus from Members to support the recommendations within the 
report. However, concerns were raised as to whether the funding was sufficient. 

• Members noted that the Portfolio Holder – Culture, Councillor Sarah Sharpe, was 
supportive and passionate regarding the Boston400 project and would be confirming 
plans in due course.  

 
The recommendation was moved by Councillor Sandeep Ghosh and seconded by 
Councillor Anne Dorrian. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Full Council Monday, 11 November 2024 
 
 

 
-15- 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the Levelling Up Partnership funding from MHCLG be formally accepted, with 
the Council’s Capital Programme and Revenue budget being updated accordingly to 
enable project funds to be allocated and projects to be delivered as set out in the 
table within section 2.7 of the report. 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.46 pm. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Supplementary Question and Written Response 
Full Council – 11th November 2024 

 
Supplementary Question to Councillor Anne Dorrian from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe 
 
It is a fact that the ward sizes in ELDC and SHDC are significantly greater than those in 
Boston, but all three councils have similar numbers of committees (circa 20). As there are 
significantly fewer Boston councillors compared with the other two, Boston’s councillors 
must make a significantly greater commitment than the other two and thus are entitled at 
least equivalent remuneration. Do you agree? 
 
Written Response from Councillor Anne Dorrian 
 
I will provide a written response to Councillor Woodliffe, thank you. 
 
Cllr Woodliffe, I do agree with your summary of the current situation regarding the 
workload of Boston Borough Councillors and I also agree that we are entitled to at least 
the equivalent renumeration. I have often wondered if this matter would be better dealt 
with at a national level in order to take the ‘sting’ out of elected members deciding their 
own allowances, however, we are where we are at the moment and this body will have the 
opportunity to consider the Independent Renumeration Panel’s report in January 2025. 

Minute Item 41

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report To: Full Council 
 
Date: 20th January 2025 
 
Subject: Members’ Allowances Scheme 
 
Purpose: To consider the recommendations of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel and approve a Members Allowances 
Scheme. 

 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: N/A 
 
Report Of: John Medler, Assistant Director – Governance & Monitoring 

Officer 
 
Report Author: Amanda Dickinson, Democratic Services Team Leader 
 
Ward(s) Affected: None 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 
2003, the Council must establish and maintain an Independent Remuneration Panel 
(IRP) to make recommendations to the authority about the allowances paid to Members. 
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel has met to review the level of allowances 
currently paid under the Members’ Allowances Scheme, and Council is invited to 
consider their recommendations and approve a Members’ Allowances Scheme to take 
effect from 1 April 2025. 
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 
1. To consider the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel as set 

out in Appendix 1 to the report; and 
 

2. Subject to recommendation 1, the Council approves the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme attached at Appendix A to take effect from 1 April 2025. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 1



 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To fulfil the requirements of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 and to ensure allowances are sufficient to not financially disadvantage 
an average working person from standing for Council and taking on positions which 
attract additional responsibility. 
 

 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
The recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel are non-binding and 
therefore the Council having had regard to the Panel’s report could choose to 
incorporate all, some or none of the Panel’s recommendations when making its 
Members’ Allowances Scheme.  
 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require 

the Council to approve or amend a scheme for payment of members’ allowances. In 
accordance with the Regulations, before approving or amending such a scheme, the 
Council must first have regard to recommendations made by an Independent 
Remuneration Panel. 
 

1.2 Thus, whilst the Council remains responsible for agreeing its Scheme, it should give 
due regard to the Panel’s recommendations and should not disregard the 
recommendations without giving appropriate reasons. 

 
2. Report 
 
2.1 The Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel is attached at Appendix 1 to this 

report. It is now for the Council to consider these recommendations when making its 
Members’ Allowances Scheme. 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
None. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
None. 
 
Staffing 
 
The work of the Independent Remuneration Panel is supported by the Democratic 
Services Team Leader. 
 

Page 20



Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None. 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
The Council is responsible for making or amending the Scheme for Members’ Allowances 
but must have regard to the Panel’s recommendations. 
 
There are statutory obligations in respect of advertising the recommendations and making 
copies of the same available for public inspection. 
 
Any amendment to current allowances will require an amendment to Part 6 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 
Data Protection 
 
None. 
 
Financial 
 
The financial impact will depend upon what is agreed by Council. Should all the  
recommendations be agreed, the additional cost to the Council per annum is set out in the 
table below. 
 

2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29 2029.3 

£51,820 £52,900 £53,950 £55,300 £56,690 

 
The financing of any agreed changes will need to be built into the Council’s Budget for 
2025/26 and its Medium-Term Financial Plan. 
 
Risk Management 
 
None. 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
Details of the consultation undertaken by the Panel are set out in Appendix 1. 
If approved the revised scheme will be effective from 1st April 2025.  
 
Reputation 
 
None. 
 
Contracts 
 
None. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None. 
 

Page 21



Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
There are not considered to be any significant equality and diversity implications arising 
from this report. Allowances are fixed without the consideration of the individual post 
holder. A Dependent’s Carer’s Allowance is included in the scheme. It is not considered 
necessary to undertake an equality impact assessment. 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
None. 
 
Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
Provision is made within the Scheme for Members’ Allowances for the payment of 
travelling allowances when attending certain meetings and events. A payment for carrying 
additional passengers is recommended to continue. This is aimed at encouraging car 
sharing, reducing the Council’s carbon footprint. 
 
Acronyms 
 
IRP – Independent Remuneration Panel  
LGA – Local Government Association 
 
Appendices  
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 
Appendix 1 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
Appendix A Draft Members’ Allowance Scheme 
 
Background Papers 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report. 
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
Name of Body Date 
Full Council 26 September 2022 
Full Council 15 January 2024 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: Amanda Dickinson, Democratic Services Team Leader 
 amanda.dickinson@boston.gov.uk  
 
Signed off by: John Medler, Assistant Director – Governance & Monitoring 

Officer 
 john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk  
 
Approved for publication: John Medler, Assistant Director – Governance & Monitoring 

Officer 
 john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Page 22

mailto:amanda.dickinson@boston.gov.uk
mailto:john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

Report of the Boston Borough Council  

Independent Remuneration Panel 

For Member Allowances for the Financial Years 2025/26, 2026/27 & 2027/28 

1. Introduction  
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel has a responsibility to make recommendations to the 
Council on the level of allowances to be paid to members of the Council. This report has 
been prepared in accordance with current legislation and guidance. 
 
The recognised principles for the Independent Remuneration Panel when considering a 
scheme of remuneration are that it should be: - 
 

• justifiable and defendable, based on logical construction; 

• transparent and simple to understand and administer; 

• should neither discourage nor encourage candidates for financial considerations; 
 
The Panel can make recommendations about the level of the basic allowance, special 
responsibility allowances, dependant carers’ allowances, travel and subsistence allowances 
and co-optees’ allowances. 
 
2. Review Process 
 

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require that 
before making or amending a Members’ Allowances Scheme, an authority shall have 
regard to the recommendations of an Independent Remuneration Panel (The Panel) set up 
specifically to advise on the matter. 
 
The period of the current scheme is due to end in March 2026. The Council therefore 
requested the Panel undertake a review of the scheme in advance of the current end date 
given some recent changes to the roles and responsibilities of councillors and, in particular, 
the increased role of councillors in the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership.  
The Panel were asked to make recommendations to the Council with regard to any 
proposed changes to the scheme in advance of the current scheme end date.   
 
The Independent Remuneration Panel met on 20 June 2024 to commence a review on the 
Members Allowances with intention to propose any changes are implemented for 2025-26.   
 
The Panel considered the following evidence during the review: 
 

• 2021 Census Data for Boston  
• ONS Employee Earnings in the UK 
• Members Allowance Schemes for Boston Family Group Comparator Councils 

including:  
• Allerdale 
• Amber Valley 
• Carlisle 
• Fenland 
• Forest of Dean 
• Newark & Sherwood 
• North East Derbyshire 
• Wyre Forest 

Page 23



 

 

• Members Allowance Schemes for other Lincolnshire Authority Borough and District 
Councils: 

• City of Lincoln 
• East Lindsey 
• North Kesteven 
• South Holland 
• South Kesteven 
• West Lindsey 

• Boston Members Allowances 
• Boston Programme of Meetings 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25 
• Boston Cabinet Portfolios 
• Boston Members’ Questionnaire Results 

• Extract of Leader’s Diary 
• Revenue Budget Information for Boston, South Holland and East Lindsey Councils 
• Parental Leave Policy for Councillors produced by the LGS Labour Group 
• Information gained from an open meeting with the Council Leader 

 
The Panel invited all members to respond to a questionnaire seeking views on the existing 
scheme of allowances and to propose any specific areas that the Panel may wish to have 
regard to in undertaking its review. 
 
The Panel is grateful to the members who responded to the questionnaire, for the 
information they provided, and the comments received.  
 
The Panel considered the 17 responses received to the member questionnaire. 5 
respondents were happy with the scheme as it stood and 12 made recommendations for 
the Panel to review. These included: 
 

• Review of the basic allowance and SRAs to address the concern that Boston 
allowances were lower than others in the county, and specifically in comparison to 
East Lindsey and South Holland. 

• Review of the workload resulting from the Partnership arrangements between the 
three Councils and the need for it to be reflected in Special Responsibility 
Allowances. 

• Consider remuneration for independent members to address perceived difficulties in 
recruiting to independent members to committees. 

 
3. Basic Allowance 
 
The Panel considered the current level of level of basic allowance for Boston councillors, 
taking into account that the basic allowance is not a wage or salary, and the position of 
councillor carried with it an expectation of a voluntary element. It was noted that the Boston 
basic allowance was considerably lower than most other Lincolnshire district councils, 
which reflected in responses to the Members questionnaire, but compared reasonably well 
against CIPFA authorities. 
 
The Panel considered the Boston allowances against CIPFA statistically nearest neighbour 
authorities and Lincolnshire district councils. The Panel reflected that, despite annual 
increases to allowances aligned to the NJC pay award, the Boston Basic allowance was 
significantly lower than many comparator authorities and specifically compared with East 
Lindsey and South Holland.  
 
 

Page 24



 

 

The Panel also considered relevant information relating to average wage levels in the three 
authorities and determined that comparatively the allowances in Boston were out of 
alignment with average salaries across the three authorities. The Panel therefore 
recommends that the basic allowance should be increased more in line with those of 
neighbouring authorities.   
 
The Panel noted the provision of accommodation costs for ward surgeries which had not 
been utilized for some time and does not fall under the allowance categories as set out in 
the Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) Regulations, 2003. 
 
Noting the above, given such a nominal amount, and in raising the basic allowance the 
Panel are suggesting the removal of the £50 yearly provision for Ward Surgeries. 
 
The Panel recommends that the level of basic allowance be set at £6,500 to take 
effect from 1st April 2025 and the removal of the Ward Surgery reimbursements. 
 
4.  Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
The main focus for the Independent Remuneration Panel, when considering the levels of 
special responsibility allowance, was to try and achieve a fair and equitable scheme, 
recognising the responsibilities and time commitment required for each position and being 
sufficient to compensate an average working person who may be required to take unpaid 
leave to carry out such duties. 
 
The guidance for SRAs states that the positions which receive special responsibility 
allowances should have significant responsibility attached to them. 
 
The Regulations provide that special responsibility allowances may be paid for special 
responsibilities within one or more of the following categories:- 
 

• Membership of the executive; 

• Acting as leader or deputy leader of a political group; 

• Presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-committee of the authority; 

• Representing the authority at meetings of, or arranged by, any other body; 

• Membership of a committee or sub-committee of the authority which meets with 
exceptional frequency or for exceptionally long periods; 

• Acting as a spokesperson of a political group on a committee or sub-committee of 
the authority; and 

• Such other activities in relation to the discharge of the authority’s functions as require 
of the member an amount of time and effort equal to or greater than would be 
required of him by any one of the activities mentioned above whether or not that 
activity is specified in the scheme.  

 
Having studied the information provided and deliberated on the issues the Panel agreed 
that the posts which currently attracted SRA payments was comprehensive and the majority 
of the positions had sufficient responsibility and time commitment attached to them to 
warrant payment of a SRA. 
 
The Panel considered the allowances for Leader, Deputy Leader and Executive members 
in the context of comparison with other Lincolnshire districts and specifically those in the 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. 
 

Page 25



 

 

The Panel determined that the Leaders allowance was significantly lower compared to 
other Lincolnshire authorities and proposed that it be increased more in line with the 
Leader’s allowances in East Lindsey and South Holland.  
 
The Panel determined that the allowances for the Deputy Leader and Executive members 
were lower than the average of Lincolnshire allowances for the same roles and agreed that 
they should be increased.   
 
The Panel considered the allowances for Committee Chairs and Vice Chairs and 
determined that there these were also significantly lower than those at other similar 
authorities and specifically those within the shared services partnership. It was agreed that 
the majority of these allowances should be increased to reflect the comparable nature of 
the time commitment and levels of responsibility/accountability across the committees.  
 
The Panel also considered allowances for these positions in other Lincolnshire authorities 
and noted that, with the exception of the Chairman of Planning Committee, the other 
positions were remunerated at a much lower level. It was agreed that £5,000 be proposed 
as a fair remuneration across the Planning Committee, Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals 
Committee, Overview & Scrutiny Committees, Audit & Governance Committee recognizing 
that in aligning all would result in a one-off reduction from the current allowance for the 
Chairman of Planning to bring all roles into alignment.  
 
It was further agreed that, in line with other authorities, formally appointed Vice Chairmen 
should also receive a special responsibility allowance to recognize the formal need to have 
sufficient expertise to deputise for the Chairman and to better reflect the roles and levels of 
responsibility/accountability. The Panel propose an allowance of £2,500 for each of the Vice 
Chairman for Planning, Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals Committee, Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees, Audit & Governance Committee. It is noted that the alignment of the 
allowances will result in a slight reduction for the Vice-Chairman of Planning in the short 
term. 
 
It was noted that as the allowances for the Chairman and Vice Chairmen of Committees 
would be index linked to the NJC staff pay award average percentage increase in 2026/27 
and 2027/28, that the reduction in the short term would be recouped over time as all 
allowances increased. 
 
The Panel considered the allowances for the Mayor and Deputy Mayor and determined 
that, while these allowances are primarily to support the civic role of the Mayor and deputy 
Mayor, the general increased in costs associated with undertaking civic duties had 
increased and therefore a small increase was proposed to the Mayor’s allowance.  The 
Panel also considered the role of the Deputy Mayor, and specifically the extent to which the 
Deputy Mayor makes a significant contribution to the civic calendar of events and profile of 
the Council in the borough and determined that it was disproportionately low compared to 
the allowance for the Mayor and propose that it should be increased to £2,000 per annum. 
 
The Panel considered the current arrangements for opposition groups and the role that 
Group Leaders have in ensuring the appropriate transaction of Council business.  It was 
determined, having considered a number of approaches within other councils and as a 
result of the fundamental group/political changes that had occurred across the Council of 
late, to propose that the special responsibility allowances for Leaders of opposition groups 
be determined by the number of group members with three bands of allowance based on 
group membership numbers. 
 

Page 26



 

 

The Panel considered the Special Responsibility Allowances for Members of the Planning 
Committee and Hearing Panels. It was agreed, in line with other authorities and given the 
strategy to align with Partnership authorities, to remove the allowance. 
 
The Panel recommends the special responsibility allowances, as detailed below, to 
take effect from 1 April 2025: 
 

a) That the Leader’s allowance be set at £20,000 p/a. 
 

b) That the Deputy Leader’s allowance be set at £12,000 p/a. 
 

c) That the allowance for Cabinet Members be set at £9,000 p/a. 
 

d) That allowances for the Chairmen of Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals 
Committee, Overview & Scrutiny Committees, Audit & Governance Committee 
and Planning Committee be set and aligned at £5,000 p/a. 

 
e) That a Special Responsibility Allowance be introduced for the Vice-Chairman 

of Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals Committee, Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees and Audit & Governance Committee and that these allowances 
and the Vice Chairman of Planning Committee Special Responsibility 
Allowance be set and aligned at £2,500. 

 
f) That the allowance for the Chairman of Boston Town Area Committee 

allowance be set at £1,500 p/a. 
 

g) That the Mayor allowance be set at £7,000 p/a. 
 

h) That the Deputy Mayor allowance be set at £2,000 p/a. 
 

i) That the Opposition Group Leaders allowance be set in accordance with the 
number of group members below5. 
 

i. 2 - 5 members  £500 
ii. 6 - 10 members  £1,000 

iii. 11 - 15 members £1,500 
 

j) That the current Special Responsibility Allowances for Member of the Planning 
Committee and Hearing Panels cease. 
 

5.  Co-optee Allowance 
 

The Panel considered comments raised through the member survey requesting that 
consideration be given to allowances for independent and co-opted members.  
 
The Panel determined that it would be appropriate to remunerate independent members of 
committees, like the Audit & Governance Committee, to reflect the requirement to have 
relevant technical expertise specific to the role. 
 
The Panel noted that it had previously made a recommendation for the Co-opted 
Independent Member allowance to be set at £650 which was adopted by Full Council on 15 
July 2024. This allowance would also be index linked to the NJC staff pay award average 
percentage increase in 2026/27 and 2027/28. 

Page 27



 

 

6.  Maternity, Paternity and Adoption  
 
The Panel were asked to consider the appropriateness of a maternity, paternity and 
adoption scheme for members to encourage greater diversity on the Council. 
 
The Panel noted, following research that there is no standard or consistent approach 
across local authorities for such provision and no specific requirement within the Members 
Allowances Regulations to include provision for such a scheme. 
 
It was noted however, that the Local Government Association has adopted the model 
parental leave policy, which covers key issues, including those specific to councillors, such 
as leave entitlement, notice, continued payment of allowances, continued payment of 
special responsibility allowances, expectation of returning to the same or similar roles after 
a period of parental leave, and cover arrangements during periods of leave. The policy can 
be adopted to cover specific local circumstances or preferences. 
 
The LGA states that having parental leave policies in place for councillors may help to 
increase the diversity of people seeking election to local government, in particular, making it 
easier for women, younger people and those with caring responsibilities to seek election, or 
to seek re-election. 
 
The Panel recommends that the Council give consideration to the adoption of a 
parental leave policy for councillors, based on the LGA model or an appropriately 
modified version of the current scheme for Boston Borough Council employees. 
 
7.  Travel and Subsistence 
 
The Panel reviewed the existing travel and subsistence scheme and noted that the scheme 
was somewhat historic and that many of the allowances were out of alignment with HMRC 
rates and those of other similar authorities. 
 
The Panel therefore propose a simplified scheme which ensure that travel and subsistence 
rates are aligned with those set by HMRC, attached as Appendix A. 
 
The Panel recommends that the travel and subsistence allowances be set and index 
linked to the HMRC tax free levels. 
 
8.  Annual Adjustment of Allowance Levels 
 
The Panel reviewed the mechanism for awarding annual cost of living increases and 
determined that it would further recommend that the Basic and Special Responsibility and 
Co-optee Allowances continue to be linked to the NJC pay award for staff for the remaining 
period of the scheme from April 2026 to end of March 2028. 
 
The Panel recommends that the Basic, Special Responsibility and Co-optee 
Allowances be index linked to the NJC staff pay award average percentage increase 
in 2026/27 and 2027/28. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

9.  Disparity of Allowances across the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership 

 
The Panel noted comment in the responses from Members regarding the disparity of 
allowances paid to Members across the authorities in the South and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership.  
 
The allowances paid by those authorities had been included in the benchmarking 
information considered by the Panel and disregarding the lowest and highest across the 
range the Panel was satisfied that the scheme for Boston Borough Council achieved parity 
within acceptable tolerances across Lincolnshire and the CIPFA family group.  
 
In accordance with the Regulations those Councils had their own Independent 
Remuneration Panels established which made recommendations to the Sovereign 
Councils. As such this was not a matter within the remit or responsibilities of the Boston 
IRP. 
 
10. Conclusion 
 
The key focus of the Independent Remuneration Panel, when considering revisions to the 
scheme, was to achieve allowances that would not deter an average working person from 
standing for Council, or result in Councillors being financially disadvantaged, if they had to 
take unpaid leave from their job to carry out Council duties.  
 
The Panel acknowledged that constraints of the current financial position of the Council and 
the understandable reluctance to accept significant increases in allowances. However, it 
was noted that over time this had resulted in a significant discrepancy between the 
remuneration for Boston councillors and those in other similar authorities. The Panel agreed 
that the review should look to address that discrepancy to ensure that Boston Councillors 
were fairly and equitably remunerated for their time and that they were not financially 
disadvantaged as a result of their role as a councillor. 
 
The Panel took into account government guidance that states that there is an expectation 
that some elements of the representative role should be carried out on a voluntary basis 
and therefore remuneration should reflect that voluntary contribution. However, this must be 
balanced against the need to ensure that elected members do not face significant financial 
loss as a result and that allowances are sufficient to encourage people from all age groups 
and all sections of the community to come forward as elected members and that their 
service to the community is retained.  
 
The Panel believes the proposed allowances achieve this balance and urges the Council to 
adopt its recommendations in respect of the members allowances scheme.  
 
 
  

Page 29



 

 

Schedule 1 
 
The following table comprises a summary of the current Members’ Allowances Scheme 
2024/25 and the proposed Members’ Allowances Scheme 2025/26. 
 

 Current Allowances 
2024/25 
 

Proposed Allowances 
2025/26 

Basic Allowance £5,567 £6,500 
 

Leader of the Council £16,702 £20,000 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council 
(including Cabinet Portfolio) 

£8,351 £12,000 

Cabinet Members £6,959 £9,000 
 

Chairmen of Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees 

£1,519 £5,000 

Vice-Chairmen of Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees 

N/A £2,500 

Chairman of Audit & Governance 
Committee 

£1,519 £5,000 

Vice-Chairman of Audit & 
Governance Committee 

N/A £2,500 

Chairman of Planning Committee £5,567 £5,000 
 

Vice-Chairman of Planning 
Committee 

£2,784 £2,500 

Chairman of Licensing/Regulatory 
& Appeals Committee 

£1,519 £5,000 

Vice-Chairman of 
Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals 
Committee 

N/A £2,500 

Chairman of the Boston Town 
Area Committee 

£1,519 £1,500 

Mayor £6,959 £7,000 
 

Deputy Mayor £1,044 £2,000 
 

Opposition Group Leaders  Currently £127 per 
member excluding 
group leader 

(2-5 members) £500 
(6-10 members) £1,000 
(11-15 members) £1,500 
 

Co-opted Independent Member £650 £650 
 

 

Page 30



Appendix A 

Boston Borough Council ConstitutionPart 6 2 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Revised 1 April 2025 

 
 

Part 6 
 
 

Scheme for Payment of 
Members’ Allowances 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

Boston Borough Council  
 

Scheme for Payment of Members' Allowances 

 
The Boston Borough Council, in exercise of its powers conferred by the Local Authorities 
(Members' Allowances) Regulations, 2003, hereby make the following Scheme which shall 
be cited as the Boston Borough Council Members' Allowances Scheme. 
 
1. Citation 

 
This scheme may be cited as Boston Borough Council Members’ Allowances 
Scheme and shall have effect from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2028. 

 
Interpretation 

 
 In this scheme; 
 
 “Councillor” means a Member of Boston Borough Council 
 
 “year” means the 12 months ending with 31 March. 
 
2. Basic Allowance 
 

(a) A Basic Allowance in the sum of £6,500 shall be payable in respect of the 
financial year 2025-26 to each Member of the Authority.  
 

 This allowance shall be paid on a pro-rata monthly basis.  
 
(c) If the term of office or duties undertaken by a Councillor begin or end part way 

through a Municipal Year, or amendment to the scheme during a Municipal 
Year changes the amount to which a Councillor is entitled, then calculation of 
the allowance payable shall be on a pro-rata basis having regard to the 
proportion that the term of office, period of duty or relevant periods of the 
scheme bear to the Municipal Year in which they occur. 

 
(d) This allowance is subject to Income Tax and National Insurance. 
 

 
 3. Special Responsibility Allowance 
 
 (a) For each year a Special Responsibility Allowance shall be paid to those 

Members who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the authority that 
are specified in Schedule 1 to this Scheme. 

 
 (b) Where a Member takes up or relinquishes any of the posts mentioned in 

Schedule 1, otherwise than at the beginning or end of a financial year, the 
entitlement to Special Responsibility Allowance shall be pro-rata to the period 
served in that office. 

 
This allowance shall be paid monthly and is liable for Income Tax and National 
Insurance. 

Page 32



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

A maximum of two special responsibility allowances may be claimed, 
with the exception of the Leader and Deputy Leader who may not claim a 
Cabinet Members Allowance in addition to the Leader and Deputy 
Leader Allowance. 

 
4. Co-optee Allowance 

 
A co-optee’s allowance in respect of the attendance of individuals co-opted onto the 
Audit and Governance Committee of the Council is payable at £650. The allowance 
will cover attendance at such meetings and any other activity arising directly from 
that role (e.g. seminars, conferences, training courses, etc.). Details of this 
Allowance are set out in Schedule 1. 
 
If a Co-opted Independent Member is in receipt of a Special Responsibility 
Allowance they will not be able to claim the co-optee £650 allowance. 
  

5. Annual Adjustment of Allowances  
 

(a) For the period 1 April 2026 to 31 March 2028 the basic, special responsibility 
and co-optee allowances will be linked to staff pay awards, the annual amount 
to be increased prior to being paid on a pro-rata monthly basis.  

 
6. Income Tax and National Insurance  
 

(a) Basic Allowance, Special Responsibility and Co-optee Allowances are liable 
for Income Tax and National Insurance deductions.  

 
(b) Allowances must be treated as earned income and should be declared as 

such on all necessary forms. 
 
(c) Travel Allowances have been set at rates below the threshold for Income Tax 

deductions. 
 

(d) Members who suffer tax deductions on their allowances may be eligible to 
claim tax relief in respect of expenses incurred.  A series of ‘Agreed Expenses 
Allowances’ are negotiated with the HMRC each year.  Details are available 
from the Democratic Services Manager.  

 
(e) A Member wishing to claim tax relief should consult HMRC. 
 

7. Dependent Carer’s Allowance  
 

(a) Child Care  
 

Members may claim for reimbursement of actual expenditure incurred in 
providing child care arrangements to facilitate their attendance at approved 
duties of the Council in accordance with the following restrictions:- 

 

• That payment be made to someone other than a close relative, as defined 
in the Boston Member Code of Conduct; 

Page 33



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

• That payments for the care of children under the age of 8 be restricted to 
payments to registered child-minders and other statutorily approved child 
care providers; 

• That payments be restricted to the care of children up to their 14th birthday 
who normally reside with the Member; 

• That no payments be made in respect of care of children of compulsory 
age during school hours. 

 
(b) Care of Dependants  
 

Members may claim for reimbursement of actual expenditure on professional 
care for an elderly, sick or disabled dependant relative normally residing with 
the Member and requiring constant care subject to payment being restricted 
to agencies or persons qualified to provide the care other than close relations, 
as defined in the Boston Member Code of Conduct. 

 
(c) The following conditions apply to the allowances for both Child Care and Care 

of Dependants:_ 
 

• That payments be made on the basis of reimbursement of actual 
expenditure incurred, subject to the production of satisfactory receipts by a 
Member; 

• That Members self-certify claims confirming they have incurred 
expenditure in accordance with the scheme; 

• That qualifying meetings be restricted to a meeting of the Cabinet, a 
meeting of a Committee of the Cabinet, a meeting of the authority, a 
meeting of a Board/Committee, Sub-Committee or Panel of the authority; 

• That payment be made only for the duration of the meeting for which the 
claim is made plus a maximum of one hour for travelling time. 

 
7. Travel and Subsistence Expenses 
 

(a) Travel and subsistence expenses shall be made to Members in respect of 
approved duties, as specified in Schedule 2 to this Scheme. 

 
(b) In order to claim subsistence allowance a claimant must have personally 

incurred expenditure on subsistence and provide evidence of such 
expenditure in the form of receipts. 

 
(b) The amount paid will be the amount incurred and shown on the receipt up to 

the maximum limit set out in Schedule 4 to this scheme. 
 
(c) Claims for travel and subsistence expenses should be submitted promptly on 

the appropriate form by no later than the 4th day of the month following the 
month to which the claim relates. 

 
(d) Travel and subsistence expenses are not subject to Income Tax or National 

Insurance. 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

8. Rates of Expenses Payable 
 

(a) Schedule 4 sets out the current rates and conditions relating to travelling and 
subsistence expenses. 

 
(b) The Section 151 Officer shall have delegated authority within the Scheme to 

increase travel and subsistence expenses in line with the limits prescribed by 
the Secretary of State, or HMRC. 
 

9. Disability Discrimination Act  
 
 The Council acknowledges its obligations under the Disability Discrimination Act and 

will make reasonable adjustments to accommodate Elected Members with 
disabilities to enable them to carry out their duties effectively.  

 
11. Method of Payment 
 
 Payment of Members' Allowances shall be made by Credit Transfer to a bank 

account specified by the Member.  Payment will be made on 23rd of each month or 
nearest working day should the 23rd fall on a weekend. 

 
12. Late Claims 
 
 Claims must be made within two months of the date on which the duty in respect of 

which the entitlement to the allowance arises is carried out.  Claims submitted out of 
time will require specific approval from the Section 151 Officer. 

 
13. Financial Restrictions 
 
 Any payment under the Scheme is conditional on the aggregate of the amount which 

the authority has paid out or is already liable to pay out under the Scheme not 
exceeding the budget provision. 

 
14. Withholding Allowances 
 

Where a member is a member of another local authority he/she may not receive an 
allowance from more than one authority in respect of the same duties. 
 
Members will continue to receive allowances if suspended pending an investigation, 
but will be required to repay them from the date of suspension where the alleged 
offence is subsequently proven. 
 
Payments will be withheld during any periods of suspension following a proven case 
or when a Member ceases to be a Member or is in any other way not entitled to 
receive allowances. 

 
15. Renunciation 
 
 Any Member may by notice in writing given to the Chief Executive elect to forgo any 

part of his/her entitlement to an allowance under this Scheme. 

Page 35



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

Schedule 1 
 
The following are specified as the special responsibilities in respect of which Special 
Responsibility Allowances are payable and the amounts of those allowances payable in 
respect of a full financial year:- 
 
Responsibility          Amount 
 

• Leader of the Council          £20,000 

• Deputy Leader of the Council (including Cabinet Portfolio)   £12,000 

• Cabinet Members          £9,000 

• Chairmen of Overview & Scrutiny Committees      £5,000 

• Vice-Chairmen of Overview & Scrutiny Committees    £2,500 

• Chairman of Audit & Governance Committee     £5,000 

• Vice-Chairman of Audit & Governance Committee     £2,500 

• Chairman of Planning Committee           £5,000 

• Vice-Chairman of Planning Committee       £2,500 

• Chairman, Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals Committee              £5,000 

• Vice-Chairman, Licensing/Regulatory & Appeals Committee             £2,500 

• Chairman of the Boston Town Area Committee     £1,500 

• The Mayor          £7,000 

• Deputy Mayor          £2,000 

• Opposition Group Leaders (2-5 members)      £500 

• Opposition Group Leaders (6-10 members)      £1,000 

• Opposition Group Leaders (11-15 members)     £1,500 

• Co-opted Independent Member       £650 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

Schedule 2 
 
The following are approved duties for which Members may, if they wish, claim travelling and 
subsistence expenses: 
 
1. The attendance by a Councillor at meetings of the Council, and Cabinet, Boards, 

Committees, Panels, Sub-Committees or Working Groups to which they have been 
formally appointed by the Council, or where they are acting as substitutes.  

 
2. The attendance by a Councillor at a site visit organised by the Cabinet, or Board, 

Committee, Panel, Sub Committee or Working Group to which they have been 
formally appointed by the Council. 

 
3. The attendance of a specified delegation of Councillors at consultation meetings for 

the purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge of the Council's functions. 
 
4. The attendance of a Member of the Cabinet or a Chairman of a Board, Committee, 

Panel, Sub Committee or Working Group, or, in his/her absence his/her Vice-
Chairman at any meeting of another Board, Committee, Panel, Sub-Committee, or 
Working Group of the Council pursuant to a resolution specifically requesting him/her 
to attend. 

 
5. Duties which are undertaken in connection with being a Cabinet Member or 

Chairman/Vice-Chairman of Boards/Committees/Panels such as briefing meetings, 
opening of tenders, press conferences and meetings with officers, government 
departments and community groups. 

 
6. The attendance by a Councillor at an approved conference, seminar, presentation, 

or workshop. 
 
7. The attendance of a Councillor at a meeting of any organisation to which that 

Councillor has been appointed as a representative by the Council (see schedule 3), 
provided no allowance is paid by the body concerned and the meeting is scheduled 
outside the Councillor’s ward. 
 

8. Attendance by the Mayor and Deputy Mayor at Mayoral engagements, including 
events hosted by other civic heads within Lincolnshire, but excluding charity events. 
Attendance at events hosted by Civic Heads outside of Lincolnshire is not an 
approved duty unless they are of significant importance or benefit, to be agreed by 
the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer.  

 
Non-Approved Duties  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the attendance by a Councillor at any of the following are not 
approved duties:- 
 

1. Civic and social events (excluding civic Council meetings i.e. AGM) 
 

2. Meetings of the Cabinet, Boards, Committees, Panels, Sub Committees or Working 
Groups of the Council to which they are not formally appointed, unless acting as a 
substitute for another Member. 

 

3. Meetings of and with Parish Councils. 

Page 37



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

Schedule 3 
 
Approved Appointments and Nominations to External Organisations 
 
Outside Bodies:- 
 
Bicker Trust 
Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board 
Boston Citizens Advice Bureau Management Committee 
Boston Grammar School Foundation Governors 
Boston in Bloom 
Boston Municipal Non-Educational Charities 
Boston Woods Trust 
Centrepoint Outreach 
East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership 
East Midlands Councils 
Greater Lincolnshire LEP 
Heritage Lincolnshire 
John Butler Charity 
Lincolnshire County Council Flood and Water Management Scrutiny Committee 
Lincolnshire County Council Health Scrutiny Committee 
Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel 
Local Government Association Coastal Special Interest Group 
Local Government Association General Assembly 
Nacro Services in Lincolnshire 
Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London (PATROL) 
Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd 
Rural Services Network (SPARSE Rural, Rural Services Partnership, RSN Community 
Group) 
Sir Thomas Meddlecott and Others Charity Trust (Skirbeck Quarter Charities) 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Healthy Living Board 
St. Leonard’s Hospital Trust 
Swineshead Enhancement Society 
Swineshead Poor Charity 
Thomas Sanderson Trust 
W H and E Harlock Swineshead Almshouses Charity 
Wash and North Norfolk Coast Special Area of Conservation (SAC) Members Group 
Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board 
Witham Fourth District Internal Drainage Board 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

Schedule 4 
 
Travelling and Subsistence Expenses 
 
Travelling Allowances 
 
1. Public Transport 
  

Travel by bus, rail and taxi will be at the standard fare rate. 
 

In certain circumstances, where advance booking and use of appropriate rail 
discount cards may result in fares for first class travel which are equal to or lower 
than the standard class fare, then travel in first class will be permitted.  
 
Members must make travel arrangements through the Democratic Services Team of 
the Council (except on grounds of urgency). 

 
Where Members have made their own arrangements for travel they may reclaim the 
actual costs incurred (subject to the above limits and production of valid receipt for 
expenditure). 

 
2. Motor Mileage Allowances - Private Vehicles 
  

The mileage rates for Members will reflect HMRC mileage payment guidelines, 
currently the following rates apply:- 
 

Mode of Transport First 10,000 business 
miles in the tax year 

 

Each business mile over 
10,000 in the tax year 

Cars and vans 
 

45p 
 

25p 
 

Passenger (for carrying  
fellow Members in a car  
or van on journeys which  
are also work journeys 
for them). 
 

5p 5p 

Motor Cycles 
 

24p 24p 

Bicycles 20p 20p 
 
Members claiming mileage for travel to approved Council duties are responsible for 
ensuring that the vehicle they are using for Council business purposes is taxed and 
appropriately insured and will be required to provide confirmation of insurance cover 
to the Monitoring Officer on request. 

 

Page 39



 

 
Boston Borough Council Constitution   Part 6  

Subsistence Expenses 
 
3. Day Subsistence 
 

The meal allowances rates for Members will reflect HMRC subsistence payment 
guidelines, currently the following rates apply:- 
 

Allowance Valid Claim Period Maximum 
Amount 

Breakfast When departing from home 
before 7 00 am and not returning 

before 11.00 am 

£7.50 

Lunch When leaving home or place of 
work before 11 am and arriving 
back at their home or place of 

work after 3.00 pm 

£10.00 

Dinner When leaving home before 5.00 
pm and not returning until after 

8.00 pm 

£20.00 

Meal allowances will only be paid when it is necessary for the Member to 
be absent from home during the specified periods due to Council business 
and where it would not be possible to take the meal at home. 
 
The Authority will only pay the actual cost incurred for each meal. The maximum 
should only be claimed when the meal has cost that amount or more.  
 
Expenses will not be paid where a suitable meal is provided during the course of the 
official duties or where the Member could have arranged their day to avoid incurring 
the expenses. 
 
Gratuities for service are paid at the discretion of the Member and except where 
specifically included on a bill as a service charge are not reclaimable from the 
authority. 
 
Any claim for reimbursement that is submitted without a valid receipt will not be paid. 
 

4. Overnight Accommodation 
 
Where a substantial journey has to be undertaken, e.g. to London or Aberdeen, 
Members are permitted to leave the previous day if they would otherwise have to 
leave home before 7 a.m. They may return the following day if they would otherwise 
arrive home after 10.00 p.m.  
 
Hotel and other accommodation must be booked in advance by the Democratic 
Services Team to enable the Council to secure such discounts which may be 
available to it. 

Page 40



Boston Borough Council 
 
 

 
-1- 

Minutes of a meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee held in the Committee 
Room - Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR on Monday, 18th November, 
2024 at 6.30 pm. 
 
Present: 
 
Councillor Barrie Pierpoint, in the Chair. 
Councillors Richard Austin BEM, James Cantwell, Mike Gilbert, Paul Gleeson, 
Patricia Marson, David Middleton, Chris Mountain and David Scoot. 
 
In attendance: 
Councillor Stephen Woodliffe. 
 
Officers: 
Assistant Director - Governance and Monitoring Officer, Information Manager and Data 
Protection Officer, Treasury and Investment Manager, Democratic Services Team Leader 
and Democratic Services Officer. 
 
 

29 Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Lina Savickiene. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the new Co-opted Independent Members, Adam Cartwright and 
Gideon Hall, to the meeting. 
 

30 Declarations of Interest 
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 

31 Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the previous meeting held 14th October 2024 were agreed and signed by 
the Chairman. 
 

32 Actions 
 
The Democratic Services Officer provided an update, on behalf of the External Auditors, 
with regards to the B&M purchase. Members were advised that the purchase had been 
completed in 2024/25 and as such would be picked up as part of the 2024/25 audit.  
 
No further actions were outstanding from the previous meeting. 
 

33 Public Questions 
 
No questions were received. 
 

34 Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 2



Audit & Governance Committee Monday, 18 November 2024 
 
 

 
-2- 

The Interim Treasury & Investments Manager, PSPSL presented a report by the Deputy 
Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 which provided the 2024/25 Mid-Year 
update on the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy, attached as Appendix A within the report. 
 
The report covered the following areas: 
 

• An economic update for the first half of the 2024/25 financial year; 

• The outlook for the remainder of the financial year along with interest rate forecasts; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy; 

• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and prudential 

indicators; 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2024/25; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2024/25; and 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2024/25. 

 
Councillor Richard Austin BME queried the prospective of selling and reinvesting the 
Council’s property funds, referring to a suggestion from the MP, Richard Tice. The Interim 
Treasury & Investments Manager, PSPSL advised that the position in relation to the 
Council's property funds was that they were kept under regular review. Members noted 
that consideration had been given to changes to capital regulations and minimum revenue 
provision, statutory guidance. He also advised that as part of the next review an 
information pack would be provided to Members to show what the implications of those 
legislation changes were, and it would also provide details what the performance of the 
property funds had been. A separate report would be presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee and Full Council in relation to property funds investments as part 
of the normal review undertaken. 
 
Councillor Paul Gleeson reminded members of the long term investment and from the 
amount of money that had been spent the Council was getting a good return. He was 
satisfied by the way that the treasury and the finances of the Council were being run. 
 
Responding to a query from Councillor James Cantwell, seeking further commentary on 
the changes to the approved budget, referring to page 37 of Appendix A1 for the Town 
Centre Heritage Scheme and the revenues and benefits, the Interim Treasury & 
Investments Manager, PSPSL advised that full details were available within the minutes of 
the Cabinet meetings. 
 
Adam Cartwright referred to the Lobo loan and queried whether there were any 
possibilities for exiting. The Interim Treasury & Investments Manager, PSPSL advised that 
it had been reviewed at the same time as the PWLB loan, however the premium had been 
considerably high due to interest rates. Members noted that the loan was continually being 
reviewed.  
 
Councillor Mike Gilbert queried whether the revenue implications had been taken into 
consideration in respect of the capital investments. The Interim Treasury & Investments 
Manager, PSPSL confirmed that the revenue implications were detailed within the reports 
submitted to Cabinet for consideration in respect of the Capital Programme. 

Page 42



Audit & Governance Committee Monday, 18 November 2024 
 
 

 
-3- 

 
Councillor Anton Dani referred to the economic situation in respect of national and 
worldwide political changes and queried whether there would be any future risks to the 
Councils investments. He also referred to internal borrowing (page 25) and queried 
whether it was coming from the Council’s reserves or elsewhere. The Interim Treasury & 
Investments Manager, PSPSL reassured Members that global risks were being considered 
and that there were restrictions in place in terms of the countries where investments could 
be made. In respect of internal borrowing he explained that the Council incurs capital 
expenditure which if not met from reserves would incur a borrowing requirement that could 
be internal or external.  
Members noted that the internal borrowing was not technically free of interest as no 
interest would be earned when borrowing instead of investing. 
 
Councillor Gilbert referred to the property funds and queried whether the spread of risk 
was included in the prospectus for those investments. 
The Interim Treasury & Investments Manager, PSPSL advised that when the decision was 
made to invest in property funds, various fund managers, along with the designated 
reviewing officers, were invited to a meeting, where they provided details of their strategy, 
and where they made their investments, etc. Members noted that, following the meeting, a 
presentation was being delivered by a fund manager. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted and that the relevant comments be included within the 
report to Full Council on 20th January 2025. 
 

35 Information Governance Annual Update 
 
The Group Information Manager and Deputy Data Protection Officer presented a report 
which provided with an update on the Council’s activities and compliance in respect of the 
Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018, Environmental Information Regulation (EIR) and 
Freedom of Information (FOI) requirements during the previous 12 months (October to 
September). 
 
Members noted that during analysis of the requests there was a continued increased use 
of Information regulations by “social action groups” and “media organisations” to obtain 
information. 753 requests has been made to the Council, which was a slight increase on 
the previous year.  Of those requests 47 were for information relating to the Environment, 
or environmental matters such as biodiversity, planning and flooding, etc. Exemptions had 
been applied to disclosures, where necessary, and in most cases after a public interest 
test. Only 99 requests had some form of exemption applied, the majority being in respect 
of personal data or where the information was already available. Advice had been 
provided on 276 occasions, demonstrating proactive engagement. The percentage of 
responses within statutory deadlines was 98% which was above the ICO’s “good” 
threshold of 95% on time.  
 
In respect to Data Protection there was an ongoing process where the use of data, and 
changes to processes were assessed for compliance with the Data Protection Legislation. 
There had been 48 data incidents reported which was a low volume given the number of 
transactions processed by the Council.   

Page 43



Audit & Governance Committee Monday, 18 November 2024 
 
 

 
-4- 

 
Councillor Chris Mountain referred to the number of data protection incidents and 
requested an example of what they referred to. The Group Information Manager and 
Deputy Data Protection Officer advised that some examples included letters being sent to 
an incorrect address and emails containing personal data being sent mistakenly to another 
member of staff. 
 
Councillor Paul Gleeson referred to the FOI requests and queried whether the amount of 
time being spent on the requests was being recorded and requested that, if not, that an 
estimated figure over the period of a month be provided. The Group Information Manager 
and Deputy Data Protection Officer advised that he would look into the possibility of 
providing some data to the Committee. 
 
Councillor James Cantwell queried whether surveys were used following responses to 
requests. The Group Information Manager and Deputy Data Protection Officer advised 
surveys were not used. He added that many requests came from large organisations and 
anonymous websites, and that the survey results may not provide value. 
 
Councillor Mike Gilbert referred to the redaction of information for law enforcement 
reasons and queried whether the information would fall under the heading of FOI requests 
or whether they would fall under quasi-judicial or civil enforcement. The Group Information 
Manager and Deputy Data Protection Officer clarified that the redaction on the basis of law 
enforcement was because releasing the information would prejudice a law enforcement 
activity that the Authority had. He advised that the FOI Act was for any recorded 
information held by the Council. 
 
Councillor Gleeson requested a breakdown on the number of national and local requests.  
 
Gideon Hall praised officers for their work. Adam Cartwright referred to the requests where 
responses were made outside of the deadline and queried whether there were any 
common factors. The Group Information Manager and Deputy Data Protection Officer 
advised that they were potentially late as a result of collating information from different 
teams within the authority which was an onerous task.  
 
Councillor Mountain queried the possibility of recording late responses in order to identify 
any factors and trends. The Group Information Manager and Deputy Data Protection 
Officer agreed to provide the information.  
 
Councillor Dani requested information in respect of any incidents where information had 
been passed on to a third party and how the Council had dealt with such matters. The 
Group Information Manager and Deputy Data Protection Officer confirmed that he was 
aware of some incidents and agreed to collate and provide the information to members 
following the meeting. He advised members that in most cases the Council would have 
requested that the information be returned or destroyed and that confirmation be provided. 
A risk assessment would then have been undertaken to confirm whether the data owner or 
the ICO would need to be informed. He added that there had no notifications had been 
made to the ICO that year. 
 
On behalf of the Committee the Chairman praised the hard work carried out by officers. 
 

Page 44



Audit & Governance Committee Monday, 18 November 2024 
 
 

 
-5- 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

36 Work Programme 
 
The Chairman presented the annual Audit and Governance Work Programme 2024/25 
and asked members if they wished to add any additional items into the programme. 
 
Councillor Paul Gleeson referred to the Capital Programme and queried whether more 
information could be provided to the Committee in respect of the monitoring processes to 
provide members with assurance. The Assistant Director – Governance & Monitoring 
Officer advised that the scrutiny of how projects were being delivered or performed would 
sit in the scrutiny domain. However, the governance control mechanisms could be 
considered by the Audit and Governance Committee. The Chairman requested that the 
Interim Treasury & Investments Manager, PSPSL liaise with the Deputy Chief Executive 
(Corporate Development) & S151 to request a short report.  
 
Councillor Gleeson also referred to guidance which had been published by the Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny in respect of Audit Committees and Scrutiny Committees 
working together which the Council may wish to consider.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the work programme be noted. 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.31 pm. 

Page 45

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfGS-Audit-and-scrutiny-v2.pdf
https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/CfGS-Audit-and-scrutiny-v2.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report To: Full Council  
 
Date: Monday 20th January 2025 
 
Subject: Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25 
 
Purpose: To provide Members with an update on Treasury Management 

performance and activity to ensure best practice is maintained. 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder:           Councillor Sandeep Ghosh, Portfolio Holder for Finance. 

Report Of: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate  
Development (S151). 

 
Report Author: Sean Howsam, Interim Treasury Manager (PSPSL). 
 
Ward(s) Affected: None directly 
 
Exempt Report: No 
 

Summary 

Attached at Appendix A is the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25 on the 
Council’s “Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy”. 
It covers the following areas; 
 

• An economic update for the first half of the 2024/25 financial year; 
• The outlook for the remainder of the financial year along with interest rate 

forecasts; 
• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy; 
• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 

prudential indicators; 
• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2024/25; 
• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2024/25; 
• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2024/25. 
 

This Report refers to a key element of the Council’s Governance Framework and 
represents an important contribution to the evidence trail in support of the Annual 
Governance Statement 2024/25. 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 3



Recommendations 

It is recommended that Council receive and review the contents of the report attached at 

Appendix A. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations 

The CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management suggests that members should 

be informed of Treasury Management activities at least quarterly.  This report therefore 

ensures this Council is embracing Best Practice in accordance with CIPFA’s revised 

Code of Practice. 

 

Other Options Considered 

As this is an update report there are no other further options for consideration. 

 

1. Background 

 

1.1 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during 

the year will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operations 

ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in 

low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering 

optimising investment return. 

 

1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 

Council’s capital programme. The capital programme provides a guide to the 

borrowing need of the Council, essentially longer term cash flow planning to ensure 

the Council can meet its capital spending requirements. This management of longer 

term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash 

flow surpluses, and on occasion, any existing debt may be restructured to meet 

Council risk or cost objectives. 

 

1.3 Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 

 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 

including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 

control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 

performance consistent with those risks”. 

 

1.4 The risks around investments have always been managed effectively by the 

Council. 
 

2. Report 

 

2.1 This report provides the 2024/25 Mid-Year update on the Council’s “Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy” (Appendix A). 

 

2.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued the 

revised Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 2021. 

Page 48



2.3 The Code suggests that members should be informed of Treasury Management 

activities at least quarterly. This report therefore ensures this Council is embracing 

best practice in accordance with CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice. 

 

2.4 This report was submitted for review to Audit & Governance Committee on 18 

November 2024. 

 

2.5 Section 3 of Appendix A provides an economic update and interest rate forecasts 

up to Quarter 2. The expected direction of interest rates for the remainder of the 

financial year is a reduction in Bank Rate.  

 

2.6 An update on capital expenditure and financing is provided in Section 5 of 

Appendix A. 

 

2.7 Sections 6 and 9 of Appendix A provides details of the Council’s borrowing and 

investments on 30 September 2024. 

 

2.8 The table below provides an analysis of the net treasury position as at Quarter 2 and 

the projected outturn for the year: 

Investment Type 2024/25 

Budget 

Quarter 2 

2024/25 

Actual 

Quarter 2 

2024/25 

Variance 

Quarter 2 

2024/25 

Annual 

Budget 

2024/25 

Forecast 

Outturn 

2024/25 

Forecast 

Variance 

Treasury Investments 

      Gross Interest 

      Brokers Fees 

      Net Position 

 

 

(445,076) 

5,014 

(440,062) 

(5.075%) 

 

(839,619) 

3,263 

(836,356) 

(5.432%) 

 

(394,543) 

(1,751) 

(396,294) 

(0.357%) 

 

(887,720) 

10,000 

(877,720) 

 

(1,331,813) 

10,000 

(1,321,813) 

 

(444,093) 

             0 

(444,093) 

Property Funds 

       Gross Distributions 

       Less Management Fees 

       Net Distributions 

 

(440,599) 

85,233 

(355,366) 

(4.000%) 

 

(344,709) 

66,683 

(278,026) 

(3.457%) 

 

95,890 

(18,550) 

77,340 

0.543% 

 

(878,790) 

170,000 

(708,790) 

 

 

(773,164) 

149,567 

(623,597) 

 

 

105,626 

(20,433) 

85,193 

 

M&G Property Fund 

Liquidation Distributions (to 

be used for MRP 

Contributions as the original 

capital purchase was 

unfinanced)  

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Net Income (795,428) 

(4.531%) 

(1,114,382) 

(4.720%) 

(318,954) 

(0.189%) 

(1,586,510) (1,945,410) (358,900) 

Total Borrowing Costs 55,777 55,777 0 111,250 111,250 0 

Premature Repayment of 

Borrowing Discount Allocated 

to Revenue 

(321,751) (321,751) 0 (641,743) (641,743) 0 

Overall Net Position (1,061,402) (1,380,356) (318,954) (2,117,003) (2,475,903) (358,900) 

 

  

Page 49



At 30 September 2024 there was a favourable variance of £318,954 compared with 

£169,771 at Quarter 1.  

 

The forecast outturn was a favourable variance of £358,900 compared with 

£323,641 at Quarter 1. 

 

2.9 The average level of funds available for investment purposes during the first half of 

the financial year was £48m, the same as Quarter 1. 

 

2.10 Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 5.432% (Q1 5.500%) and 

property fund investments achieved an average rate of 3.457% (Q1 3.548%). The 

combined rate achieved on all investments was 4.72% (Q1 4.796%). 

 

2.11 The Council’s Investment Policy and Strategy is kept under constant review with the 

aim of balancing risk and reward. The investment criteria agreed for 2024/25 

permitted investments with banks whose parent bank originates from a country with 

a sovereign rating of A+ or higher and meets Link Groups counterparty investment 

criteria. 

 

3. Conclusion 

3.1 This report provides an update on treasury management performance to Members 

to ensure Best Practice is maintained as required by CIPFA Code of Practice for 

Treasury Management. 

 

Implications 

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

None 

Corporate Priorities 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Workforce Capacity Implications 

None 

Constitutional and Legal Implications 

The General Power of Competence in the Localism Act 2011 allows Councils a broad 

freedom in their operations. 

Councils have the general power to borrow under Section 1 of the Local Government Act 

2003. 

The power to invest is set out in the Local Government Act 2003, Section 12, which gives 

the Council the power to invest for any purpose relevant to its functions under any 

enactment, or for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs. 

The power that allows councils to spend for capital purposes is included in the Local 

Government Act 2003. 

Page 50



Data Protection 

None 

Financial 
 
The financial implications are covered in detail in Appendix A to this report and in section 
2 above. 
 
By making the investment criteria relating to financial institutions stringent, the Council 
receives lower rates of return. The Council therefore aims to strike a balance between risk 
and reward when considering its portfolio of investments. Treasury Management is a key 
financial consideration for the Authority especially in respect of its investment returns and 
Capital Programme. 
 
Risk Management 

The Code of Practice sets out the framework for controlling the risks associated with 

treasury management decisions for borrowing and investing. Ultimately investment and 

borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management 

Strategy. The overriding priority is that the security of a deposit takes precedence over a 

return on investment. 

The Prudential and Treasury Indicators control the limits for investing and borrowing, to 

ensure that any borrowing is affordable and sustainable and long term borrowing is for 

capital purposes only. 

Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance is briefed on treasury performance on a regular basis. 

Reputation 

The security of investments is the Council’s main priority when investing surplus cash. 

Contracts 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 

None 

Health and Wellbeing 

None 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

None 

  

Page 51



Acronyms 
bps – basis points 
CDS - Credit Default Swap 
CFR – Capital Financing Requirement 
CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
CPI - Consumer Price Index 
ECB – European Central Bank 
FOMC – Federal Open Market Committee 
GDP – Gross Domestic Product 
GF – General Fund 
LOBO – Lender Option Borrower Option 
LUF – Levelling Up Fund 
m/m – month on month 
myy – month year on year 
MPC - Monetary Policy Committee 
MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision 
PMI - Purchasing Managers Index 
PWLB - Public Works Loan Board 
q/q - quarter on quarter 
TMSS – Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
UKSPF - UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
Appendices  

 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 
Appendix A - Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25  
 
Background Papers 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title.    Where the document can be viewed. 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management. 

CIPFA Website 

BBC Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement for 2024/25 

(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Full Council, 

04/03/2024 18:30 (boston.gov.uk) 

 

Chronological History of this Report 

Name of Body  Date 

Audit and Governance Q1 Update Report - 14 October 2024 

Audit and Governance Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25 - 18 November 2024 

Council   Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25 - 20 January 2025 

  

Page 52

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g2036/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Mar-2024%2018.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g2036/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Mar-2024%2018.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10


Report Approval 

Report author: Sean Howsam – Interim Treasury Manager (PSPSL) 

sean.howsam@pspsl.co.uk  

 

Signed off by: Christine Marshall – Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate 

Development) & S151  

 christine.marshall@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Approved for publication: Councillor Sandeep Ghosh, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 sandeep.ghosh@boston.gov.uk  

 

Page 53

mailto:sean.howsam@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:christine.marshall@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:sandeep.ghosh@boston.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



        Appendix ‘A’ 

 
 
 
Treasury Management Update 
 
Mid-Year Report 2024/25 

ended 30 September 2024 

 

Boston Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



`APPENDIX A` 

1 Background 

 

1.1 Capital Strategy 
 

In December 2021, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 
(CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. These 
require all local authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy which is to provide the 
following: -  
 

• a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;  

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed;  
• the implications for future financial sustainability. 
 

1.2 Treasury Management 
 
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised 
during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies 
being invested in low-risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering optimising investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure the 
Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This management of longer-
term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 
 
Accordingly, treasury management is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 

 

2 Introduction 

 
This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (revised 2021). The primary requirements of the Code are 
as follows:  
 

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities. 

 

Page 56



`APPENDIX A` 

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out 
the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives. 

 
3. Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

(TMSS) - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report and an Annual 
Report, (stewardship report), covering activities during the previous year.  Quarterly 
reports are also required for the periods ending April to June and October to 
December but may be assigned to a designated committee or panel as deemed 
appropriate to meet the Treasury Management governance and scrutiny aspects of 
the Council. 

 
4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 

treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions. 

 
5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy 

and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the delegated body is Audit 
and Governance Committee. 

 
This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management, and covers the following: 
 

• An economic update for the first half of the 2024/25 financial year; 
• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy; 
• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and prudential 

indicators; 
• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2024/25; 
• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2024/25; 
• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2024/25; 
• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2024/25. 

 
 

3 Economics and Interest Rates (Commentary provided by 
Link Group)  

 
3.1 Economics Update 
 

• The third quarter of 2024 (July to September) saw: 
 
➢ Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth stagnating in July following 

downwardly revised Q2 figures (0.5% quarter on quarter (q/q)); 
➢ A further easing in wage growth as the headline 3 month year on year 

(myy) rate (including bonuses) fell from 4.6% in June to 4.0% in July; 

➢ Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation hitting its target in June before 

edging above it to 2.2% in July and August; 

➢ Core CPI inflation increasing from 3.3% in July to 3.6% in August; 

Page 57



`APPENDIX A` 

➢ The Bank of England initiating its easing cycle by lowering interest 

rates from 5.25% to 5.0% in August and holding them steady in its 

September meeting; 

➢ 10-year gilt yields falling to 4.0% in September. 
 

• The economy’s stagnation in June and July points more to a mild slowdown 
in GDP growth than a sudden drop back into a recession. Moreover, the 
drop in September’s composite activity Purchasing Managers Index (PMI), 
from 53.8 in August to 52.9, was still consistent with GDP growth of 0.3%-
0.4% for the summer months.  This is in line with the Bank of England’s 
view, and it was encouraging that an improvement in manufacturing output 
growth could be detected, whilst the services PMI balance suggests non-
retail services output grew by 0.5% q/q in Q3. Additionally, the services 
PMI future activity balance showed an uptick in September, although 
readings after the Chancellor’s announcements at the Budget on 30 
October will be more meaningful. 
 

• The 1.0% month on month (m/m) jump in retail sales in August was 

stronger than the consensus forecast for a 0.4% m/m increase.  The rise 

was reasonably broad based, with six of the seven main sub sectors 

recording monthly increases, though the biggest gains came from clothing 

stores and supermarkets, which the Office of National Statistics reported 

was driven by the warmer-than-usual weather and end of season sales. As 

a result, some of that strength is probably temporary. 

  

• The government’s plans to raise public spending by around £16bn a year 

(0.6% GDP) have caused concerns that a big rise in taxes will be 

announced in the Budget, which could weaken GDP growth in the medium-

term. However, if taxes are raised in line with spending (i.e., by £16bn) that 

would mean the overall stance of fiscal policy would be similar to the 

previous government’s plan to reduce the budget deficit. Additionally, rises 

in public spending tend to boost GDP by more than increases in taxes 

reduce it. Our colleagues at Capital Economics suggest GDP growth will hit 

1.2% in 2024 before reaching 1.5% for both 2025 and 2026. 

 

• The further easing in wage growth will be welcomed by the Bank of 

England as a sign that labour market conditions are continuing to cool. The 

3myy growth rate of average earnings fell from 4.6% in June to 4.0% in 

July. On a three-month annualised basis, average earnings growth eased 

from 3.0% to 1.8%, its lowest rate since December 2023. Excluding 

bonuses, the 3myy rate fell from 5.4% to 5.1%. 

 

• Other labour market indicators also point to a further loosening in the 

labour market. The 59,000 fall in the alternative PAYE measure of the 

number of employees in August marked the fourth fall in the past five 

months and the 77,000 decline in the three months to August was the 

biggest drop since November 2020. Moreover, the number of workforce 

Page 58



`APPENDIX A` 

jobs fell by 28,000 in Q2. The downward trend in job vacancies continued 

too. The number of job vacancies fell from 872,000 in the three months to 

July to 857,000 in the three months to August. That leaves it 34% below its 

peak in May 2022, and just 5% above its pre-pandemic level. Nonetheless, 

the Bank of England is still more concerned about the inflationary influence 

of the labour market rather than the risk of a major slowdown in labour 

market activity.  

 

• CPI inflation stayed at 2.2% in August, but services inflation rose from a 

two-year low of 5.2% in July to 5.6%, significantly above its long-run 

average of 3.5%. Food and fuel price inflation exerted some downward 

pressure on CPI inflation, but these were offset by the upward effects from 

rising furniture/household equipment inflation, recreation/culture inflation 

and a surprisingly large rise in airfares inflation from -10.4% in July to 

+11.9% in August. As a result, core inflation crept back up from 3.3% to 

3.6%. CPI inflation is also expected to rise in the coming months, 

potentially reaching 2.9% in November, before declining to around 2.0% by 

mid-2025.  

 

• The Bank initiated its loosening cycle in August with a 25 basis points (bps) 
rate cut, lowering rates from 5.25% to 5.0%. In its September meeting, the 
Bank, resembling the European Central Bank (ECB) more than the Fed, 
opted to hold rates steady at 5.0%, signalling a preference for a more 
gradual approach to rate cuts. Notably, one Monetary Policy Committee 
(MPC) member (Swati Dhingra) voted for a consecutive 25bps cut, while 
four members swung back to voting to leave rates unchanged. That meant 
the slim 5-4 vote in favour of a cut in August shifted to a solid 8-1 vote in 
favour of no change. 

 

• Looking ahead, CPI inflation will likely rise in the coming months before it 
falls back to its target of 2.0% in mid-2025.  The increasing uncertainties of 
the Middle East may also exert an upward pressure on inflation, with oil 
prices rising in the aftermath of Iran’s missile attack on Israel on 1 October. 
China’s recent outpouring of new fiscal support measures in the latter 
stages of September has also added to the upshift in broader commodity 
prices, which, in turn, may impact on global inflation levels and thus 
monetary policy decisions. Despite these recent developments, our central 
forecast is still for rates to fall to 4.5% by the end of 2024 with further cuts 
likely throughout 2025.  This is in line with market expectations, however, 
although a November rate cut still looks likely, December may be more 
problematic for the Bank if CPI inflation spikes towards 3%.  In the second 
half of 2025, though, we think a more marked easing in inflation will prompt 
the Bank to speed up, resulting in rates eventually reaching 3.0%, rather 
than the 3.25-3.50% currently priced in by financial markets. 

 

• Our forecast is next due to be updated around mid-November following the 

30 October Budget, 5 November US presidential election and the 7 

Page 59



`APPENDIX A` 

November MPC meeting and the release of the Bank of England Quarterly 

Monetary Policy Report. 

 

• Looking at gilt movements in the first half of 2024/25, and you will note the 

10-year gilt yield declined from 4.32% in May to 4.02% in August as the 

Bank’s August rate cut signalled the start of its loosening cycle. Following 

the decision to hold the Bank Rate at 5.0% in September, the market 

response was muted, with the 10-year yield rising by only 5bps after the 

announcement. This likely reflected the fact that money markets had priced 

in a 25% chance of a rate cut prior to the meeting. The yield had already 

increased by about 10bps in the days leading up to the meeting, driven in 

part by the Fed's "hawkish cut" on 18 September. There is a possibility that 

gilt yields will rise near-term as UK policymakers remain cautious due to 

persistent inflation concerns, before declining in the longer term as rates 

fall to 3.0%. 

 

• The FTSE 100 reached a peak of 8,380 in the third quarter of 2024, but its 
performance is firmly in the shade of the US Standard & Poors (S&P) 500, 
which has breached the 5,700 threshold on several occasions recently.  Its 
progress, however, may pause for the time being whilst investors wait to 
see who is elected the next US President, and how events in the Middle 
East (and Ukraine) unfold.  The catalyst for any further rally (or not) is likely 
to be the degree of investors’ faith in Artificial Intelligence. 

 
MPC meetings: 9 May, 20 June, 1 August, 19 September 2024 
 

• On 9 May, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 

7-2 to keep Bank Rate at 5.25%.  This outcome was repeated on 20 June. 

   

• However, by the time of the August meeting, there was a 5-4 vote in place 

for rates to be cut by 25bps to 5%.  However, subsequent speeches from 

MPC members have supported Governor Bailey’s tone with its emphasis 

on “gradual” reductions over time. 

  

• Markets thought there may be an outside chance of a further Bank Rate 

reduction in September, following the 50bps cut by the Federal Open 

Market Committee (FOMC), but this came to nothing.  

  

• Nonetheless, November still looks most likely to be the next month to see a 
rate cut to 4.75% but, thereafter, inflation and employment data releases, 
as well as geo-political events, are likely to be the determinant for what 
happens in the remainder of 2024/25 and into 2025/26. 

 

Page 60



`APPENDIX A` 

3.2  Interest rate forecasts 
 
The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisors and part of 
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  

The latest forecast on 28 May sets out a view that short, medium and long-
dated interest rates will fall back over the next year or two, although there are 
upside risks in respect of the stickiness of inflation and a continuing tight 
labour market, as well as the size of gilt issuance.  

Our Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rate forecasts below are based on the 
Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 20 bps, calculated as gilts plus 
80bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1 November 
2012. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

End of Link Group Commentary 

 

4 Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment 
Strategy Update 

 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2024/25, which includes the 
Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 4 March 2024.  
 
There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes 
already approved. 

 

 

 

 

Prudential Indicator 2024/25 Original 
£’000 

Latest Approved 
Prudential 
Indicator 

£’000 

Authorised Limit 18,000 18,000 

Operational Boundary 15,000 15,000 

Capital Financing Requirement 18,671 18,707 

Page 61



`APPENDIX A` 

5 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators) 
 

This part of the report is structured to update: 
 

• The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 
• How these plans are being financed; 
• The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 

indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and 
• Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

 
 
5.1 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure  
 
This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes 
since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget. 
 

 

A full breakdown of this capital expenditure can be found at Appendix A1 at the 
back of this report. 
 
5.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme 
 
The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital 
expenditure plans (above), highlighting the original supported and unsupported 
elements of the capital programme, and the expected financing arrangements of 
this capital expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table increases the 
underlying indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for 
the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)).  This direct 
borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt and other treasury 
requirements. 

Capital Expenditure  2024/25 
Approved 

Budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
 Latest 

Revised 
Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Expenditure  

As At  
31/08/24 
 £’000 

2024/25 
Estimated 
Outturn 

£’000 

Towns Fund Projects 17,325 17,325 1,374 15,077 

UKSPF Projects 526 526 263 526 

LUF Projects 14,571 14,571 2,213 2,905 

Other Projects 3,323 2,367 546 1,958 

Grand Total 35,745 34,789 4,396 20,466 

Page 62



`APPENDIX A` 

 

5.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary 
 
The table below shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur 
borrowing for a capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position over the 
period, which is termed the Operational Boundary. 
 
Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 
 
We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing Requirement. 
 
Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt 

 

5.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 
The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure 
that over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only 
be for a capital purpose.  Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2024/25 and next two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.   

Capital Expenditure 2024/25 
Approved 

Budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
 Latest 

Revised 
Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Expenditure  

As At  
31/08/24 
 £’000 

2024/25 
Estimated 
Outturn 

£’000 

Total capital expenditure 35,745 34,789 4,396 20,466 

Financed by:     

External Grants (32,603) (31,994) (4,298) (17,882) 

Capital reserve (2,511) (2,263) (50) (2,268) 

Other reserve - Housing  (57) (57) 0 0 

Other reserve – Repairs & 
Renewals 

(7) 0 0 0 

Other reserve – COVID 19 (44) (44) (35) (44) 

Total financing (35,222) (34,358) (4,383) (20,194) 

Borrowing requirement 523 431 13 272 

 2024/25 
Approved 

Budget 
£’000 

2024/25 
 Latest 

Revised 
Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Expenditure  

As At  
31/08/24 
 £’000 

2024/25 
Estimated 
Outturn 

Limit 
£’000 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

Total CFR 18,799 18,707 18,418 18,548 

Net movement in CFR 394 302 13 143 

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt 

Borrowing 10,000 10,000 1,000 10,000 

Other long-term liabilities* 5,000 5,000 0 5,000 

Total debt (year end 
position)  

15,000 15,000 1,000 15,000 

Page 63



`APPENDIX A` 

 

 

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the 
Authorised Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited 
and needs to be set and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable 
in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum borrowing need with some 
headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit determined under 
section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 

6. Borrowing 
 
The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2024/25 is £18.707m.  The 
CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  If the 
CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external 
borrowing), or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing).  
The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market 
conditions.  Table 5.4 shows the Council had borrowings of £1m and had utilised 
£17.418m of cash flow funds in lieu of borrowing as at 30 September 2024.  This 
is a prudent and cost-effective approach in the current economic climate but will 
require ongoing monitoring if gilt yields remain elevated, particularly at the longer-
end of the yield curve (25 to 50 years). 
 
No new borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 30 September 2024.  
 
The Council has a £1m Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loan with State 
Street Nominees at a rate of 11.125% which is due to mature in 2051.  
 

 2024/25 
Original 
Estimate 

£’000 

2024/25 
 Latest 

Approved 
Budget 
£’000 

Actual 
Expenditure  

As At  
31/08/24 
 £’000 

2024/25 
Estimated 
Outturn 

£’000 

Borrowing 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Other long-term 
liabilities 

0 0 0 0 

Total debt  1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 

CFR* (year end 
position) 

18,799 18,707 18,418 18,548 

Authorised limit for 
external debt 

2024/25 
Original 

Limit 
£’000 

2024/25 
 Latest 

Approved 
Limit 
£’000 

Actual 
Borrowing  

As At  
30/08/24 
 £’000 

2024/25 
Estimated 
Outturn 

Limit 
£’000 

Borrowing 13,000 13,000 1,000 13,000 

Other long-term 
liabilities 

5,000 5,000 0 5,000 

Total 18,000 1,000 1,000 18,000 

Page 64



`APPENDIX A` 

 
The following table provides a comparison of budgeted borrowing costs and the 
outturn position for the year. 
 

Borrowing Type 2024/25 
Budget 
Period 6 

2024/25 
Actual 

Period 6 

2024/25 
Annual 
Budget 

2024/25 
Forecast 
Outturn 

State Street LOBO 55,777 55,777 111,250 111,250 

Total Borrowing 
Costs 

55,777 55,777 111,250 111,250 

 
 

PWLB maturity certainty rates (gilts plus 80bps) year to date to 29 
September 2024 
 
Gilt yields and PWLB certainty rates were less volatile than at this time last year.  
Overall, the 10, 25 and 50-year part of the curve endured a little volatility but 
finished September very much as it started in April. 
 
Where there was some movement downwards, this came in the shorter part of 
the curve as markets positioned themselves for Bank Rate cuts in the second half 
of 2024 and into 2025, although the continued stickiness of inflation and the 
prevailing tight labour market is a concern for those looking for more sizeable falls 
ahead. 
 
At the beginning of April, the 5-year certainty rate was the cheapest part of the 
curve at 4.72% whilst the 25-year rate was relatively expensive at 5.28%.  May 
saw yields at their highest across the whole curve. 
 
Conversely, 17 September saw the low point for the whole curve, with the 5-year 
certainty rate falling to 4.31% before rebounding to 4.55% by the end of the 
month.  Similarly, the 50-year certainty rate fell to 4.88% but finished the month at 
5.13%, slightly higher than at the start of April. 
 
At this juncture, the forecast is for rates to fall back over the next two to three 
years as inflation dampens, although there is upside risk to our Bank Rate 
forecast at present.  The CPI measure of inflation is expected to fall below 2% in 
the second half of 2025, however, and we forecast 50-year rates to stand at 
4.20% by the end of September 2026.  The major caveats are that there is 
considerable gilt issuance to be digested by the market over the next couple of 
years, and geo-political uncertainties – which are generally negative for inflation 
prospects – abound in Eastern Europe and the Middle East, in particular. 
 

Page 65



`APPENDIX A` 

  
 

 
The current PWLB rates are set as margins over gilt yields as follows: - 
 

• PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 
• PWLB Certainty Rate (General Fund (GF)) is gilt plus 80 basis 

points (G+80bps) 
• PWLB Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60 basis points 

(G+60bps) 
• PWLB Certainty Rate (Housing Revenue Account (HRA)) is gilt 

plus 40bps (G+40bps) 
 

The UK Infrastructure Bank will lend to local authorities that meet its scheme 
criteria at a rate currently set at gilt plus 40bps (G+40bps). 
 

7. Debt Rescheduling 
 
No debt repayments or rescheduling have been undertaken to date in the current 
financial year. 
 

8. Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 
 
It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 
affordable borrowing limits. The Council’s approved Treasury and Prudential 
Indicators (affordability limits) are included in the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.  
 
During the half year ended 30 September 2024 the Council has operated within 
the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement. 
 

Page 66



`APPENDIX A` 

 
On 20 May 2024 the limit of £7.5m with the CCLA Money Market Fund was 
breached by £150k and was corrected on 21 May 2024. Internal processes have 
been reviewed to ensure further breaches do not occur again. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer reports that 
no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with these 
indicators. 
 

9. Annual Investment Strategy 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2024/25, which 
includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 4 
March 2024.  In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice, it sets out the Council’s investment priorities as being: 
 
• Security of capital 
• Liquidity 
• Yield 

 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity aligned with the 
Council’s risk appetite. In the current economic climate, it is considered 
appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but also 
to seek out value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit quality 
financial institutions, using the Link suggested creditworthiness approach, 
including a minimum sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) 
overlay information. 
 
Creditworthiness 
The UK’s sovereign rating has proven robust through the first half of 2024/25.  
The new Labour Government is expected to outline in detail its future fiscal 
proposals in the Budget scheduled for 30 October 2024. 
 
Investment Counterparty Criteria 
The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement is meeting the requirement of the treasury 
management function. 
 
Credit Default Swap prices 
It is noted that sentiment in the current economic climate can easily shift, so it 
remains important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and 
return in the current circumstances. 
 
Investment Balances 
The average level of funds invested during the first half of the financial year was 
£48m (Q1 £48m).  

Page 67



`APPENDIX A` 

 
Investment performance year to date as at 30 September 2024 
  
The graph below shows that longer term investment rates in the market fell during 
the first half of the financial year because of the reduction in the Bank of England 
Base Rate and expectations of further reductions. 
 

  
 

During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the 
agreed Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are 
paid out at future dates (e.g. Council Tax and Business Rates) the value of 
investments held at any point in time does not represent the value of BBC’s own 
resources.  

 

The following table provides details of the cash investments held by the Council 
on 30 September 2024. Note this represents the position at this one point in time. 
The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a daily basis. 

Page 68



`APPENDIX A` 

 

* The CCLA (Church, Charities and Local Authorities) Money Market Fund is 
domiciled in the UK but invests funds deposited globally. 

For comparison purposes, the level of investments at Quarter 1 was £29.5m. 

 

Financial Institution Country Amount 

 (£) 

Start 

 Date 

Maturity 

 Date 

Fixed/ 
Variable 

Yield 

% 

HSBC Current Account UK 255,356 N/A Instant 
Access 

N/A N/A 

CCLA Money Market 
Fund  

N/A 7,500,000 N/A 
Instant 
Access 

Variable 4.99% 

UK Debt Management 
Office 

UK 2,300,000 30/09/24 01/10/24 Fixed 4.94% 

UK Debt Management 
Office 

UK 1,600,000 27/09/24 04/10/24 Fixed 4.94% 

Blaenau Gwent CBC UK 2,000,000 26/07/24 28/10/24 Fixed 5.25% 

DNB Bank Norway 1,000,000 06/11/23 04/11/24 Fixed 5.72% 

Goldman Sachs UK 2,000,000 17/05/24 18/11/24 Fixed 5.275% 

DZ Bank Germany 2,000,000 27/08/24 27/11/24 Fixed 4.99% 

Wrexham County BC UK 3,000,000 25/01/24 24/01/25 Fixed 5.70% 

National Westminster UK 2,000,000 19/08/24 19/02/25 Fixed 4.87% 

CIC France 3,000,000 03/05/24 02/05/25 Fixed 5.33% 

Canterbury City Council UK 2,000,000 21/05/24 21/05/25 Fixed 5.25% 

UBS Bank Switzerland 3,000,000 12/07/24 11/07/25 Fixed 5.18% 

TOTAL  31,655,356     

Page 69



`APPENDIX A` 

The Council has purchased property fund units and the table below provides a 
breakdown in relation to the purchase of these units: 
 
Fund Date of 

Purchase 
Net Asset 

Value at Date 
of Purchase 

£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) 

on Purchase 
£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
% 

Total Cost 
 
 
£ 

Black Rock UK 
Property Fund  

 

 

05/08/16 
30/12/16 
28/09/18 
TOTAL 

255,085 
255,085 

3,945,592 
4,455,762 

(5,102) 
(5,103) 
54,449 
44,244 

(2.00) 
(2.00) 
1.38 
0.99 

249,983 
249,982 

4,000.041 
4,500,006 

Schroder UK Real 
Estate Fund 

05/08/16 
03/09/18 
TOTAL 

250,000 
4,020,006 
4,270,006 

- 
(20,000) 
(20,000) 

 

- 
(0.50) 
(0.47) 

250,000 
4,000,006 
4,250,006 

Threadneedle 
Property Unit 
Trust 

31/08/16 
31/08/18 
28/09/18 
31/10/18 
TOTAL 

263,549 
2,902,441 

483,966 
483,930 

4,133,886 

(13,177) 
86,572 
16,116 
16,357 

105,868 

(5.00) 
2.98 
3.33 
3.38 
2.56 

 

250.372 
2,989,013 

500,082 
500,287 

4,239,754 

M&G Investments 
UK Property Fund 
(after distributions) 

 
14/09/18 

 

 
248,257 

 

 
88,020 

 
2.25 

 
336,277 

AEW UK Core 
Property Fund 

 
31/10/18 

 
3,745,319 

 
254,681 

 
6.80 

 
4,000,000 

TOTAL 
 

16,853,230 472,813 2.30 17,326,043 

Page 70



`APPENDIX A` 

The following table provides details in relation to the performance and valuation of these funds as at 30 September 2024. 
 

 

The overall change in the combined Net Asset Values for all funds during Quarter 2 has been a reduction of £38,404 
compared to an increase of £68,956 in Quarter 1. 
 
The movement in fair value of the funds gets charged to the revenue account and reversed out through the Movement In Reserves 
Statement to the capital adjustment account each year end so there is no bottom line impact.

Financial Institution Purchase 
Cost 
(£) 

Q2 
Budgeted 

Net Revenue 
2024/25 
(£ & %) 

Q2 
 Estimated 

Net 
Revenue  
(£ & %) 

2024/25 
Budgeted 

Net Revenue 
2024/25 
(£ & %) 

2024/25 
Estimated 

Outturn Net 
Revenue 
(£ & %) 

Net Asset 
 Value  

(£) 

Total Gain/ 
(Loss) 
Since 

Purchase 
(£ & %) 

Capital 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 
31/03/24 
(£ & %) 

2024/25 
Combined  

Annual 
Return  

(%) 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  
4,500,006 

90,247 

4.00% 

75,147 

3.33% 

180,000 

4.00% 

164,900 

3.66% 
3,997,809 

(502,197) 

(11.16%) 

19,284 

0.48% 
3.81% 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  
4,250,006 

85,233 

4.00% 

76,373 

3.58% 

170,000 

4.00% 

161,141 

3.79% 
3,567,410 

(682,596) 

(16.06%) 

(25,495) 

(0.71%) 
2.87% 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust 
4,239,754 

85,027 

4.00% 

75,890 

3.57% 

169,590 

4.00% 

160,453 

3.78% 
3,597,403 

(642,351) 

(15.15%) 

78,379 

2.23% 
5.80% 

M&G Investments UK Property 
Fund (After Distribution 
Payments) 

336,277 
14,640 

4.00% 

6,744 

4.00% 

29,200 

4.00% 

13,451 

4.00% 
428,643 

92,366 

N/A 

(53,832) 

N/K 
N/K 

AEW UK Core Property Fund  
4,000,000 

80,219 

4.00% 

66,156 

3.30% 

160,000 

4.00% 

145,937 

3.65% 
3,444,476 

(555,524) 

(13.89%) 

12,212 

0.36% 
3.66% 

TOTAL 17,326,043 355,366 299,310 708,790 645,882 15,035,741 (2,290,302) 30,548  

Adjustment for 2023/24 Accrual - - (22,284) - (22,284) - - - - 

GRAND TOTAL 17,326,043 355,366 278,026 708,790 623,598 15,035,741 (2,290,302) 30,548  

P
age 71



  APPENDIX `A1` 

An analysis of dividend distributions received since the purchase of the property 
funds to 30 September 2024 can be found in the table below: 

 

The M&G UK Property fund is liquidating its assets and therefore their fund 
valuation is reducing as repayments are made. M&G have now paid Boston 
BC distribution payments totalling £3,663,724 as at 30 September 2024, from 
the asset sale proceeds leaving a balance of £336,276. 
 
A breakdown of the maturity structure of investments on 30 September 2024 
is as follows: 
 

Period to Maturity Amount (£) % of Portfolio 

Instant Access  7,755,356 16% 

Less than one month            5,900,000 12% 

One to three months  5,000,000 10% 

Three to six months 5,000,000 10% 

Six to nine months 5,000,000 10% 

Nine months to a year 3,000,000 6% 

>12 Months 17,326,043 36% 

TOTAL 48,981,399 100% 

Financial Institution Actual Net 
Dividend 

Distributions 
Received Pre 

2024/25 

Net Dividend 
Distributions 

Received 
2024/25 

Adjustment 
For      

2023/24 
Accrual 

Total Net 
Distributions 

Received 
Since 

Purchase 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  809,969 75,147 645 885,761 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  809,186 76,373 (1,171) 884,388 

Threadneedle Property Unit 
Trust 

1,015,699 75,890 (3,229) 1,088,360 

M&G Investments UK Property 
Fund  

534,942 6,744 - 541,686 

AEW UK Core Property Fund 905,204 66,156 (18,529) 952,831 

Total Revenue 4,075,000 300,310 (22,284) 4,353,026 

Page 72



  APPENDIX `A1` 

Summary of Investment Income Received Against Budget and Forecast Outturn 
 
The table below provides a comparison of investment income received against budget at Quarter 2 and a forecast outturn position for 
the year. 
 
Investment Type 2024/25  

Budget  
Quarter 2 

2024/25 
 Actual 

 Quarter 2 

2024/25 
Variance 
Quarter 2 

2024/25 
 Annual  
Budget 

2024/25 
Forecast 
Outturn 

2024/25 
Forecast 
Variance 

Treasury Investments 
      Gross Interest 
      Brokers Fees 
      Net Position 
 

 
(445,076) 

5,014 
(440,062) 
(5.075%) 

 
(839,619) 

3,263 
(836,356) 
(5.432%) 

 
(394,543) 
(1,751) 

(396,294) 
(0.357%) 

 
(887,720) 

10,000 
(877,720) 

 
(1,331,813) 

10,000 
(1,321,813) 

 
(444,093) 

    0 
(444,093) 

Property Funds 
       Gross Distributions 
       Less Management Fees 
       Net Distributions 

 
(440,599) 

85,233 
(355,366) 
(4.000%) 

 
(344,709) 

66,683 
(278,026) 
(3.457%) 

 
95,890 

(18,550) 
77,340 
0.543% 

 
(878,790) 
170,000 

(708,790) 
 

 
(773,164) 
149,567 

(623,597) 
 

 
105,626 
(20,433) 
85,193 

 

M&G Property Fund Liquidation Distributions (to be 
used for MRP Contributions as the original capital 
purchase was unfinanced)  

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Net Income (795,428) 
(4.531%) 

(1,114,382) 
(4.720%) 

(318,954) 
(0.189%) 

(1,586,510) (1,945,410) (358,900) 

 
At 30 September 2024 there was a favourable variance of £318,954 (Q1 £169,771) and the forecast outturn was a favourable 
variance of £358,900 (Q1 £323,641). 
 
Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 5.432% (Q1 5.500%) and property fund investments achieved an average rate of 
3.457% (Q1 3.548%). The combined rate achieved on all investments was 4.796% (Q1 4.683%).

P
age 73



  APPENDIX `A1` 

The higher level of investment income achieved compared to the original 
budget is due to interest rates in the market being higher than the budgeted 
return for 2024/25 and balances available for investment being higher due to 
slippage in the 2023/24 capital programme. 
 
The following table provides an analysis of the net position following the 
decision to repay the PWLB borrowing and takes account the discount which 
must be allocated to revenue over a ten year period in accordance with proper 
accounting practice. 
 

 2024/25 
Budget 

Quarter 2 

2024/25 
Actual 

Quarter 2 

2024/25 
Variance 
Quarter 2 

2024/25 
Annual 
Budget 

2024/25 
Forecast 
Outturn 

2024/25 
Forecast 
Variance 

Net Investment Income (795,428) (1,114,382) (318,954) (1,586,510) (1,945,410) (358,900) 

Premature Repayment 

of Borrowing Discount 

Allocated to Revenue 

(321,751) (321,751) 0 (641,743) (641,743) 0 

Total Borrowing Costs 55,777 55,777 0 111,250 111,250 0 

Overall Net Position (1,061,402) (1,380,356) (318,954) (2,117,003) (2,475,903) (358,900) 

 

At 30 September 2024 there was a favourable variance of £318,954 (Q1 
£169,771) and the forecast outturn was a favourable variance of £358,900 
(Q1 £323,641). 
 
10. Changes in Risk Appetite 
 
The 2021 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes place importance on risk 
management.  Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g., for moving 
surplus cash into or out of certain types of investment funds or other types of 
investment instruments, this change in risk appetite and policy should be brought 
to members’ attention in treasury management update reports. 
 
It is reported that there has been no change in risk appetite during the first half of 
the financial year. This will be kept under review when considering global markets 
and forecasts for interest rates. 

 

 

Page 74



  APPENDIX `A1` 

Capital Programme 2024/25 and Quarter 2 Forecast Outturn 
 

Scheme 
Approved 

Budget 
2024/25 

Changes to 
approved 

budget 

Revised 
Budget 

2024/25 

Actual 
September 

2024/25 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2024/25 

Variance 
(under)/over 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,234 - 1,234 332 1,036 (198) 

Resurfacing & footpath improvements 45 - 45 50 50 5 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme  973 - 116 116 116 (852) 

Vehicle Replacements 311 - 311 - 311 - 

Housing Strategy 57 - 57 - - (57) 

Information Technology Infrastructure Refresh 307 - 307 20 148 (159) 

Neighbourhood Vehicle Replacements 56 - 56 - 56 - 

Bin Safety Upgrade 7 (7) - - - - 

Markets Regeneration 44 - 44 40 44 - 

ICT – Revenues & Benefits 92 - - - - (92) 

ICT – Relocate Server Room to SHDC 120 - 120 - 120 - 

Pool Cars 68 - 68 46 68 - 

Fly-Tipping Intervention 9 - 9 - 9 - 

Total Projects (Excl Towns Funds, UKSPF, LUF & 
LUP) 3,323 (7) 2,367 604 1,958 (1,358) 

Towns Fund - Leisure 4,028 7,000 11,028 174 11,028 - 

Towns Fund - Mayflower 9,248 - 9,248 1,504 7,000 (2,248) 

Towns Fund - St Botolph’s Library 69 - 69 12 69 - 

Towns Fund - Healing the High St (incl. 
Shodfriars) 1,712 - 1,712 52 1,712 - 

Towns Fund - Boston Station 2,268 - 2,268 563 2,268 - 

Total Towns Fund Projects 17,325 7,000 24,325 2,305 22,077 (2,248) 

UKSPF (Capacity building projects for local 
groups) 323 - 323 223 323 - 

UKSPF Rural (Community projects aimed at 
reducing the cost of living) 203 - 203 40 203 - 

Total UKSPF Projects 526 - 526 263 526 - 

LUF - Civic Hub  887 - 887 5 5 (882) 

LUF - Crown House  7,158 - 7,158 1,997 2,000 (5,158) 

LUF - Public Realm  6,526 - 6,526 213 900 (5,626) 

Total LUF Projects 14,571 - 14,571 2,215 2,905 (11,666) 

LUP – Boston United Football Sports Complex & 
Affordable Homes - 3,205 3,205 - 3,205 - 

LUP – Boston Community Research Project - 370 370 - 370 - 

LUP – Community Organisations Package - 690 690 - 690 - 

LUP – Boston Connected - 571 571 - 571 - 

LUP – St Botolph’s Church Visitor Offer - 50 50 - 50 - 

LUP – Community Diagnostic Centre  2,300 2,300 - 2,300 - 

LUP – Haven Wharf - 2,800 2,800 - 2,800 - 

Total LUP Projects (excl Boston Leisure) - 9,986 9,986 - 9,986 - 

Grand Total 35,745 16,979 52,724 5,387 37,452 (15,272) 

Page 75



`APPENDIX A2` 

Capital Programme Funding 2024/25 
 

All Projects 
Approved 

Budget 
2024/25 

Revised Budget 
Plus Slippage/ 

accelerated 
spend (-) 2024/25 

Full year 
forecast 

Variance 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Internal Borrowing (523) (431) (272) 159 

External Grants (32,603) (48,980) (34,868) 14,112 

Capital Reserve (2,511) (2,263) (2,268) (5) 

Other Reserve – Housing (57) (57) - 57 

Other Reserve – Repairs and 
Renewals (7) - - - 

Other Reserve –  
Contingency Reserve (44) (44) (44) - 

Totals (35,745) (35,745) (25,163) 10,582 

 

Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
 
Report To: Council 
 
Date: 20th January 2025 
 
Subject: Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 
 
Purpose: To determine the Council Tax Support scheme, 2025/26 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Ghosh, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Report Of: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate 

Development (S151) 
 
Report Author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues & Benefits 
 
Ward(s) Affected: Not applicable 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
This report seeks Council approval of Cabinet’s recommendations in respect of the final 
proposals for the 2025/26 Council Tax Support scheme.   
 

 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Council approves the Cabinet recommendations to revise the Council Tax Support 
scheme for 2025/26 as follows: - 
 
a) Increase the maximum CTS for households with children to 100% and 85% for other 

households; 
 
b) Remove the earnings disregard to Universal Credit claims; 
 
c) Introduce a standard £10 rate for non-dependant deductions; 
 
d) Introduce a minimum award of £1 per week; 
 
e) Reduce the Upper capital limit to £10,000; 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 4



f) Replace the three-month review with a £30 per week threshold for changes in 
Universal Credit, with discretion for flexibility; and 

 
g) Uprate in line with DWP uprating amounts for 2025/26. 
 

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
Full Council must make any revision to its scheme, or any replacement, and agree its 
final scheme no later than 11 March 2025 in respect of the 2025/26 financial year.   
 
Cabinet’s recommendation to Council has regard to data and information provided 
through a fundamental review and the results of consultation on its proposals. 
 

 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
The do-nothing option would see the current scheme retained.  This has been rejected 
as this would not be consistent with Cabinet’s earlier decision for fundamental review. 

 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1. The Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme, which replaced the previous national 

Council Tax Benefit scheme from April 2013, provides financial assistance to 

households on low incomes or benefits through a reduction in Council Tax.  Each 

year the Council is required to consider whether to revise its CTS scheme.    

 
1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils 

must approve a local Council Tax Support scheme. Regulations continue to 
prescribe the scheme for pensioners, allowing up to 100% support against Council 
Tax liability. 
 

1.3 The existing scheme provides a maximum amount of 75% of the eligible support for 
working age claimants.  It protects War pensioners and Care Leavers up to the age 
of 25. 
 

1.4 A fundamental review has been carried out this year, and following Cabinet’s 
decision in September, consultation on a range of scheme modification options took 
place between 26 September and 15 November.  

 
2. 2025/26 Scheme Modification Proposals 
 
2.1 Cabinet resolved at its meeting on 25 September 2024 to consult on a number of 

scheme modifications.  These are set out in summary below: - 
 

i. Increase the maximum CTS for households with children to 100% of their 
eligible support and to 85% for all other households of their eligible 
support. 

 

Page 78



Currently there are around 1,100 households with children in receipt of CTS.  
Recent DWP estimates shows 30% of children in Boston Borough live in relative 
low-income households. 

 
ii. Remove the earnings disregard for Universal Credit claims. 

 
The current scheme requires a manual process to administer earnings 
disregards.  The DWP has regard to earnings and disregards in its calculation of 
the claimants UC award.  This change would see the full amount of the UC 
award included in the CTS calculation and will significantly improve 
administrative efficiency. 

 
iii. Introduce a standard £10 rate for non-dependant deductions. 
 

This would replace the current scale of deductions which are based on the non-
dependant’s earnings.  
 
Exceptions to the deduction would continue to apply for households meeting 
certain criteria, including where claimant or partner is receiving Personal 
Independence Payment, Disability Living Allowance or Attendance Allowance, or 
where the non-dependant is over 18 on certain benefits. 
 

iv.   Introduce a minimum weekly award of £1.00 per week 
 

Under the current scheme CTS will be awarded and Council Tax bills updated 
even where the CTS amounts to just a few pence per week. 
 
This change would mean if entitlement to CTS was below £1 per week, there 
would be no CTS award made.  This would streamline administration and 
smooth the process for the customer in managing their Council Tax account. 
 

v. Reduce Upper Capital Limit. 
 

The Lower and Upper Capital limits are presently £6,000 and £16,000 
respectively.  Claimants that have capital between £6,000 and £16,000 have an 
assumed income of £1 for every £250, or part thereof, (known as ‘tariff income’) 
as part of the CTS calculation. 
 
BBC has consulted on two alternative limits a) £8,000 and b) £10,000.  
Reducing the Upper Capital Limit would mean households with capital above the 
new limit would not be entitled to any CTS.   

 
vi. Remove the current three-month review period on Universal Credit cases 

and replace with a threshold for changes, with discretion. 
 
This change would recognise the increase in national and real living wages and 
provide greater stability where work is reduced or increased by a few hours each 
week. 
 
The provision for discretion will allow flexibility to ensure the council can be agile 
to make changes to CTS where any change appears to be more permanent, or 
at the request of a claimant. 

Page 79



This change will result in fewer changes, and therefore greater stability for 
household budgeting.  It will also reduce the number of bills issued.  

 
vii. Uprate the 2025/26 scheme in line with DWP uprating. 

 
This will be consistent with previous years, aligning the scheme with the DWP’s 
annual update of allowances and premiums for 2025/26.   

 
2.2 The consultation also sought to establish views on whether the council should: - 

 
viii. Introduce a Discretionary Exceptional Hardship Fund scheme. 

 
Recognising that in any CTS scheme there may be hardship, by putting aside a 
budget the council would be able to provide further, short-term, financial support 
focused on those hard cases that need additional help in exceptional 
circumstances.   
 
This would be developed under the provisions of Section 13A (1) (c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and would sit alongside the Council Tax Support 
Scheme. 
 
It is proposed that such a scheme is designed to provide short-term financial 
support where there are unforeseen or exceptional circumstances which means 
Council Tax cannot be paid, and to support those residents who are taking steps 
to help themselves.  The scheme should include signposting to other sources of 
help and support. 
With each application decided on its own merits, any award would be applied as 
a credit to the Council Tax account.  As a discretionary award, Council Taxpayers 
would not have a statutory right to an award but would have the right to appeal to 
the Valuation Tribunal if they disagreed with the outcome of an application. 

 
2.3 The local scheme protections for War Pensioners and Care Leavers up to the age 

of 25 are not affected by these proposals.   
 

2.4 The scheme modelling and associated indicative costs do not include provision for 
2025/26 Council Tax increases, for DWP up-ratings, or for any increase in CTS that 
may arise through additional take-up or increased entitlement, generated by the 
economy or by the governments ‘Move to Universal Credit’ and Pensions Credit 
take-up programmes. 

 
3. Consultation Response 
 
3.1 The consultation exercise took place between 26 September and 15 November 

2024. 
 
3.2 Major precepting authorities have been consulted on the proposals. 

 
Lincolnshire County Council response was supportive of the move to modernise the 
scheme, making it simpler for the council taxpayer, and to generate operational 
efficiencies.  However, it does not support the change to vary the level of support to 
families citing the governments ongoing continued funding to support anyone who is 
vulnerable, and that the proposed change to the scheme would reduce the income 

Page 80



LCC receives which in turn reduces the available budget for spending on its 
services. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner notes the proposals and supports proposals 
which simplify the scheme for claimants, and which lead to efficiencies in 
administration. 

 
3.3 The Corporate and Community Committee received a report at its meeting on 14 

November 2024, providing an opportunity to provide feedback to Cabinet on the 
proposals.  The draft minutes from this meeting are shown in Appendix 1. 

 
3.4 Wider public consultation included publicity through media release, website and 

social media.  Letters were issued to major precepting authorities, and an email was 
sent to 54 groups that represent individuals identified in the Equality Act.  
 
A total of 89 responses were received.  Whilst this is a substantial increase on the 
35 responses received last year, it has to be recognised this is still a low response 
rate and the results cannot be relied upon as being wholly representative or 
statistically significant, but members must take the consultation responses into 
account when making their decision. 

 
3.5 Feedback from the consultation is summarised below (note where these do not add 

up to 100% there were responses in the ‘I don’t know’ category which are not 
shown here but can be seen in the Appendix): - 

 

 Agree Disagree 

Increase the maximum CTS 47.2% 44.9% 

Remove the earnings disregard to Universal Credit 
claims 

52.8% 37.1% 

Introduce a standard £10 rate for non-dependant 
deduction 

52.8% 36.0% 

Introduce a minimum weekly award of £1.00  71.9% 21.3% 

Reduce the Upper Capital Limit 
 
Of the 37.1% that agreed, 51.5% felt the limit 
should be £10,000 and 48.5% felt it should be 
£8,000 

37.1% 51.7% 

Replace the three-month review period with a 
change threshold 
 
Of the 67% that agreed, 63.3% felt the threshold 
should be £50 per week, and 36.7% felt it should 
be £30 per week 

67.4% 22.5% 

Update the 2025/26 in line with DWP uprating  73.0% 11.2% 

 

• In addition, 76.4% agreed the council should introduce an Exceptional Hardship 
Fund. 21.3% disagreed. 

 
3.5  The full consultation report is shown at Appendix 2. 

 
 
 

Page 81



4. Conclusion 
 

4.1. Cabinet had regard to data and information through its fundamental review of the 
current scheme for 2025/26, and, in line with legislation, BBC sought views through 
consulting on a range of scheme modification options.  The modification options 
sought to make the scheme more generous, whilst streamlining elements of the 
current scheme to simplify and improve administrative efficiency. The net effect of the 
modification options is an increase in CTS expenditure, estimated at £384k, of which 
c.10.3% (£39.5k) will be borne by Boston Borough, c75.21% (£289k) by Lincolnshire 
County Council and c14.49% (£55.6k) by Police and Crime Commissioner. 
   

4.2. The introduction of an Exceptional Hardship Fund to sit alongside the CTS scheme, 
and, administered under the provisions of Section 13A (1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, would provide for further short-term financial support 
and signposting for exceptional cases.  This was approved by Cabinet, and details 
for the scheme will be developed for implementation in 2025/26. This scheme will not 
impact on the major precepting authorities. 
  

4.3. Schemes cannot be changed mid-year, and the proposals made could be considered 
incremental, with a review after the first full year of the scheme (i.e. in 2026/27) to 
consider scheme performance and determine if any further modification is required. 

 
Implications 
 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
None 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
The Partnership Alignment and Delivery Plan includes a strategic partnership deliverable 
to review the Council Tax Support scheme.  The fundamental review has been completed, 
and this report to Council recommends approval for the changes to the 2025/26 scheme. 
 
Staffing 
 
PSPS – There will be a beneficial impact on resourcing with the administration 
improvements proposed. 
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
As above 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
Under the principles of Consultation members are required to approach the consultation 
responses with a receptive mind and to give conscientious consideration to the outcome of 
the consultation as part of their decision making. This means members must show they 
took the consultation responses into account so that the results of the consultation inform 
their decision. Members can evidence this (conscientious consideration of the consultation 
outcome) through their questions and debate. If members require any further information 
then they should proactively seek it before making their decision. There is no duty to adopt 

Page 82



the views of the consultees but members cannot make a decision that is fundamentally 
different to that which they have consulted on.  
 
Data Protection 
 
None 
 
Financial 
 
The indicative net cost for the modification options is estimated to be around £384k, of 
which c.10.3% (£39.5k) will be borne by Boston Borough, c75.21% (£289k) by Lincolnshire 
County Council and c14.49% (£55.6k) by Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 
Whilst not directly associated with the decision on the CTS scheme, Members are 
reminded that Boston Borough Council made a decision to implement a premium Council 
Tax charge on substantially furnished homes with no resident (second homes) from April 
2025.  This may generate additional income around £100k in respect of which major 
preceptors would benefit in the same proportions as set out above. 
 
If the Upper Capital limit is reduced, there will be a small saving through removal of 
eligibility for a small number of households. 
  
The impacts upon the Council’s budget will be included in the 2025/26 Budget and 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy. 
 
The indicative costs provided through the review do not include any provision for 2025/26 
increases in Council Tax or for DWP up-ratings, or for any increase in CTS that may arise 
through additional take-up or increased entitlement, generated by the economy or by the 
governments Move to Universal Credit and Pensions Credit take-up programmes. 
 
The introduction of an Exceptional Hardship Fund would require a decision on the amount 
to be allocated for the fund, and this will be a direct cost to Boston Borough Council, 
administered under the discretionary provisions contained in Section 13 A (1) (c) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, not shared as a cost of the collection fund. 
 
Risk Management 
 
By undertaking a detailed review the risks of changes to the scheme have been managed 
and mitigated as far as practicable to do so. 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
The Section151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance have been consulted on this 
report. 
 
Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major precepting authorities, the 
public and other stakeholders where changes to the scheme are proposed.  Consultation 
has been carried out, as detailed in Section 3 and Appendix 2 of this report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



Reputation 
 
This report proposes the provision of enhanced support to vulnerable families and 
individuals. 
 
Contracts 
 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None 
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
The existing Council Tax Support scheme continues to be delivered on the basis of the 
DWP’s previous means tested Council Tax Benefit scheme regarding protection for 
vulnerable groups, including children and the disabled.  An equality impact assessment is 
not considered necessary at this time. 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
These changes could have positive implications for health and well-being. 
 
Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
None 
 
Acronyms 
 
CTS: Council Tax Support 
DWP: Department for Work and Pensions 
UC: Universal Credit 
 
Appendices  
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: 
 
Appendix 1 Draft minutes – Corporate and Communities Committee 
Appendix 2 Consultation Report 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



Report Approval 
Report author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues & Benefits 
 Sharon.hammond@pspsl.co.uk  
Signed off by: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate 

Development (S151)  
 christine.marshall@sholland.gov.uk  
Approved for publication: Councillor Ghosh, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 sandeep.ghosh@boston.gov.uk  
 

Page 85

mailto:Sharon.hammond@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:christine.marshall@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:sandeep.ghosh@boston.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

Minute Item - Local Council Tax Support Scheme (Consultation) 2025/26 
 

The Portfolio Holder Councillor Sandeep Ghosh presented the report supported by 

the Head of Revenues and Benefits. The report updated Members on the 

performance of the current Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme and provided details 

of the fundamental review in respect of 2025/26. 

Boston’s scheme currently provided for a maximum 75% support.  Since its 

introduction in 2013, some changes to the scheme had been made, including 

restriction to Band D Council Tax liability, and discretion to assess Universal Credit 

earnings claims every three months.  In 2024/25, a new class for Care Leavers was 

introduced. 

Cabinet had previously recognised the need for a fundamental review of the scheme, 

with the current scheme now dated, being relatively unchanged since its introduction 

in 2013, and, having regard to the rollout of Universal Credit which replaced legacy 

benefits (including Housing Benefit).   

The report provides information on the scheme review, and the options for 2025/26. 

The total caseload and expenditure, at July 2024, was:  

 

 

 

 

 

A caseload comparison of data from 2023 showed a small overall increase of 190 

live claims, being a reduction of 2 in pensioner group and an increase of 192 

Working Age group, which may reflect the economic pressures on households. 

The cost of Council Tax Support was shared across major preceptors as part of the 

collection fund accounting process: 

 

 

 

 

The analysis undertaken identified the make-up and distribution of CTS across 

Working Age (WA) household types, using data from May 2024.  The data identified 

that almost 75% of the WA caseload received the current scheme maximum 75% 

support. 

2024/25 Number of live claims Amount of CTS 

Working Age 2,703 £2,155,294.78 

Pensioner 1,997 £2,224,798.49 

Total 4,700 £4,380,093.27 

Current Council Tax 

Support 2024/25 BBC LCC PCC 

£4,380,093.24 £450,930.62 £3,294,366.52 £634,796.13 

 10.30% 75.21% 14.49% 

Page 87



Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A further analysis of the correlation between households currently receiving Council 

Tax Support and the level of Council Tax arrears in financial 2023/24 but did not 

include households currently on CTS with arrears in earlier years, nor did it include 

arrears for households which received CTS at some point previously but were not 

currently in receipt of CTS.  As such the actual overall position of arrears in relation 

to CTS households would be greater than indicated.  The data showed that almost 

55% of the amount of arrears in CTS recipient households was in households with 

children. 

The fundamental review had provided Boston BC with the opportunity to look at its 

current scheme and consider how it wishes to better support residents in the future, 

having regard to affordability.  Engagement through the review has provided 

Members with information on scheme approaches and modifications, and the options 

proposed from the steer provided will enable consultation on proposals that provide 

a balance of recognising the need for increasing support for families, and the need 

for administrative simplification. 

 

 

 

Household Type 

Working Age 

Caseload 

Of which on Max 

75% CTS 

Current 

Expenditure 

Single 1196 990 £957,743 

Single with Child(ren) 845 549 £578,617 

Couple 280 214 £283,553 

Couple with Child(ren) 264 178 £246,939 

 
2585 1931 £2,066,852 

  
74.70% 

 

Household Type 

Working Age 

Caseload 

With 2023/24 

arrears 

Amount of 

2023/24 arrears 

Single 1196 288 £88,562 

Single with Child(ren) 845 342 £112,604 

Couple 280 64 £17,219 

Couple with Child(ren) 264 84 £33,069 

  2585 778 £251,454 

  
 

30.10% 
 

Page 88



Appendix 1 

 

Member deliberation followed which included: 

Members were encouraged by the proposals. It was noted that within the proposal of 

maximum relief, as a result of the percentage which applied, many families would 

save around £300 extra a year. 

Members followed suit in providing support to this proposal referring to the need of 

showing solidarity and humanity to residents of Boston.  

A query was raised regarding the reduction of maximum capital allowance to 

£10,000 or less. The Head of Revenues and Benefits advised that based on the 

analysis of data and benchmarking of other authorities, the consultation had been 

based on two figures, £8000 and £10,000, and a steer had been taken to consult on 

those two potential values of reduction.  

Members noted that 100% was currently offered by Lincoln City Council. However, 

the proposals for 2025/26 were yet to be confirmed. Additionally, it was noted that 

East Lindsey and South Holland are currently set at 75%, the same as Boston, and 

both were currently consulting on a potential increase. 

The Chairman congratulated the administration for finding a balance within the 

parameters of the proposal.  

Looking through the recommendations, Members agreed on 100% for households 

with children, 85% for other households, and that the maximum capital allowance 

should be reduced to £10,000, as detailed within the report. 

The Chairman noted his preference on the Committee having received the report 

following completion of the consultation. 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

1 
 

 

 

 

Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 

Consultation Report  

Published  

 

“You Said, We Listened” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



Appendix 2 

2 
 

Introduction to this consultation 

 

1. This report contains the responses we received for the Council Tax Support Scheme 

2025/26 consultation which took place between 26th September 2024 and 15th 

November 2024.  

 

An extensive review of the Council Tax Support Scheme was recently undertaken 

which meant that some modifications to the scheme were proposed for 2025/26, 

rather than major changes. The proposed improvements would make the scheme 

more generous, offering enhanced protection for vulnerable families and more 

efficient, streamlining processes to reduce administrative costs. 

 

2. The exercise was performed to gain the views of residents on the proposed 

modifications to the Council Tax Support Scheme for the 2025/26 financial year.   

  

Methodology 

 

3. The consultation, which was available in both hard copy and online, was promoted 

in a number of ways. 

• A media release was circulated announcing the proposals for the Council 
Tax Support Scheme 2025/26. The media release also provided residents 

with details of the consultation exercise being undertaken and details of 
how to complete or request a paper copy of the consultation. 

• A letter was forwarded to precepting Authorities on 26th September 2024, 
inviting them to give their views on the proposals for 2025/26.   

• Social media; Facebook and Twitter were also used to inform residents that 

the consultation exercise was being undertaken.  
• A homepage banner was placed on Boston Borough Council’s website to 

draw attention to the consultation.   
• An email was sent to 54 groups that represent those individuals with the 

characteristics identified in the Equality Act. A few of these are listed below: 

  Lincs Care Leavers 
  Disability Lincs 

  Victim Support in Lincolnshire 
  Age UK Boston & South Holland 
  Alzheimer’s’ Society 

  Deaf Association 
  British Heart Foundation 

  Lincs YMCA 
  ME Lincs 
  Citizens’ Advice mid Lincs 

  Boston Salvation Army 
  Boston United Disabled Football Club 

  Edan Lincs (Domestic Abuse) 
  Lincolnshire Rural Support Network 

• The questionnaire was also made available for people to complete on 

Boston Borough Council’s website. 
 

4. It should be noted that base data has been rounded to the nearest number (so  

may add up to between 99% and 101%. No comparisons have been made with the 

Page 92



Appendix 2 

3 
 

previous consultation exercise undertaken in 2023 as the questions in the 

consultation have been revised. 
 

Response Rate 
 

5. 89 responses were received. 

 

6. In addition, written responses were received from Lincolnshire County Council and 

the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner. Their responses are detailed at 

numbers 17 and 18 in this report. 

Results and Analysis 

7. Proposal A: All respondents were asked if they thought the Council should 

increase the maximum Council Tax Support for households with children to 100% 

and to 85% for other households. 

 

All respondents were advised that according to recently published DWP estimates, 

30% of children in Boston lived in relative low-income households. The proposed 

change would increase the maximum level of support for households with children 

to 100%, demonstrating the Council’s commitment to respond positively to the 

concerns over child poverty. They were also advised that there were currently 

1,109 households with children in receipt of Council Tax Support, of which 727 

received the current maximum 75% Council Tax Support award. 

 

The chart below shows that 47.2% of all respondents thought that the Council 

should increase the maximum Council Tax Support for households with children to 

100%, and to 85% for other households. It also shows that 44.9% of all 

respondents thought that they should ‘not’ increase the maximum Council Tax 

Support for households with children to 100%, and to 85% for other households, 

with the remaining 7.9% stating that they ‘did not know’.  

 

 
 

Yes, 47.2%

No, 44.9%

I don't know, 7.9%

Proposal A: Do you think that the Council should increase the 
maximum CTS for households with children to 100% and to 85% for 

other households?

Page 93



Appendix 2 

4 
 

8. Proposal B: All respondents were asked if they thought the Council should remove 

the ‘earnings disregard’ for Universal Credit claims.  

 

All respondents were advised that the ‘earnings disregard’ was the income ignored 

when assessing eligibility for benefits, letting people keep more of their earnings, 

and that research had shown that disregarding income significantly helped in 

reducing barriers to work.  

 

They were also advised that the Department for Work and Pensions would already 

have regard to ‘earnings disregard’ in its calculation of the Universal Credit award, 

and, under its current scheme, Boston Borough Council was then applying a further 

‘earnings disregard’ in its calculation of Council Tax Support for Universal Credit 

recipients.  

 

The proposed change would see the full amount of the Universal Credit award 

included in the Council Tax Support calculation. This would make the scheme 

simpler and more efficient to administer. 

The chart below shows that 52.8% of all respondents thought the Council should 

remove the ‘earnings disregard’ for Universal Credit claims, 37.1% of all 

respondents thought they should ‘not’, with the remaining 10.1% stating that they 

‘did not know’ if they Council should remove the ‘earnings disregard’ for Universal 

Credit claims. 

 

 
 

9. Proposal C: All respondents were asked if they thought that the Council should 

introduce a standard £10 rate for non-dependant deductions?  

 

All respondents were advised that under the current scheme an applicant’s 

entitlement to Council Tax Support could be reduced where other adults (non-

dependants) lived in the premises (other than the applicant or partner). The 

Yes, 52.8%

No, 37.1%

I don't know, 10.1%

Proposal B: Do you think that the Council should remove the 
earnings disregard for Universal Credit claims?

Page 94



Appendix 2 

5 
 

charges varied from £4.90 to £15.10 per week depending on the circumstances of 

the non-dependant.  

 

Introducing a standard rate of £10 per week would remove the need to obtain 

evidence relating to non-dependants, in turn simplifying the claim process for the 

customer, and improving administration efficiency. 

 

The chart below shows that 52.8% of all respondents thought that the Council 

should introduce a standard £10 rate for non-dependant deductions, 36.0% of all 

respondents thought they should ‘not’, with the remaining 11.2% stating that they 

‘did not know’ if the Council should introduce a standard £10 rate for non-

dependant deductions. 

 

 
 

10. Proposal D: All respondents were asked if they thought that the Council should 

introduce a minimum weekly award of £1.00 per week?  

 

They were advised that under the current scheme Council Tax Support would be 

awarded and Council Tax bills updated even when the Council Tax Support amount 

was a few pence per week.  

 

Many small changes, especially those under £1.00, could make it difficult for 

Council Taxpayers to keep track of their claims. By streamlining administration, the 

Council aimed to simplify the process, reducing confusion for claimants, and 

ensuring a smoother, more efficient experience for managing their support. This 

change would mean that if entitlement to Council Tax Support was below £1 per 

week, there would be no CTS award made. 

 

The chart below shows that 71.9% of all respondents thought that the Council 

should introduce a minimum weekly award of £1.00 per week, 21.3% thought they 

should ‘not’, with the remaining 6.7% stating that they ‘did not know’ if the Council 

Yes, 52.8%

No, 36.0%

I don't know, 11.2%

Proposal C: Do you think that the Council should introduce a 
standard £10 rate for non-dependant deductions?

Page 95



Appendix 2 

6 
 

should introduce a minimum weekly award of £1.00 per week. 

 

 
 

11. Proposal E: All respondents were asked if they thought that the Council should 

reduce the Upper Capital Limit used in the calculation of Council Tax Support?  

 

All respondents were advised that the Capital in this context was savings and other 

investments. Boston’s Upper Capital Limit is currently £16,000.  

 

They were also advised that where a household had more than £16,000 there was 

no entitlement to Council Tax Support. For every £250 between the Lower Capital 

Limit of £6,000 and the Upper Capital Limit of £16,000, there was an assumed level 

of income, known as a ‘tariff’ of £1 in the calculation of Council Tax Support.  

 

Whilst recognising that not all Capital could be accessible, and that households with 

a modest level of Capital may still need support, the Council were asking whether 

respondents thought the Council should reduce the current Upper Capital Limit. 

 

The chart below shows that 37.1% of all respondents thought that the Council 

should reduce the Upper Capital Limit used in the calculation of Council Tax 

Support, 51.7% thought they should not, with the remaining 11.2% of all 

respondents stating that they ‘did not know’. 

 

Yes, 71.9%

No, 21.3%

I don't know, 6.7%

Proposal D: Do you think that the Council should introduce a 
minimum weekly award of £1.00 per week?

Page 96



Appendix 2 

7 
 

 
 

12. Respondents who thought that the Council should reduce the Upper Capital Limit 

used in the calculation of Council Tax Support were asked if they thought the 

Council should reduce the Upper Capital limit to £8,000 or £10,000. 51.5% of 

respondents thought the Council should reduce it to £10,000, with the remaining 

48.5% stating that the Council should reduce the Upper Capital limit to £8,000. 

 

 
 

13. Proposal F: All respondents were asked if they thought that the Council should 

remove the current three-month review period on Universal Credit earnings and 

replace it with a threshold for earnings changes?  

 

All respondents were advised that the National Living Wage was £11.44 per hour, 

Yes, 37.1%

No, 51.7%

I don't know, 11.2%

Proposal E: Do you think that the Council should reduce the Upper 
Capital Limit used in the calculation of CTS?

£8,000 , 48.5%
£10,000 , 51.5%

Do you think the Council should reduce to Upper Capital Limit to:

Page 97



Appendix 2 

8 
 

and the Real Living Wage £12 per hour. As a result, if someone worked just an 

extra hour a week, they could lose some of their Council Tax Support.  

 

Thery were also advised that the change meant that while some households may 

benefit, others might receive less support, as earning just below the threshold 

would not automatically increase their Council Tax Support. However, the Council 

had the flexibility to adjust Council Tax Support on a case-by-case basis, either by 

customer request or during routine checks. This adjustment would also help with 

reducing the cost of re-issuing bills for small changes and give households more 

certainty when planning their budgets. 

 

The chart below shows that 67.4% of all respondents thought that the Council 

should remove the current three-month review period on Universal Credit earnings 

and replace it with a threshold for earnings changes.  It also shows that 22.5% of 

all respondents thought the Council should ‘not’, with the remaining 10.1% stating 

that they ‘did not know’ if the Council should remove the current three-month 

review period on Universal Credit earnings and replace it with a threshold for 

earnings changes. 

 

 
 

14. Respondents who thought that the Council should remove the current three-month 

review period on Universal Credit earnings and replace it with a threshold for 

earnings changes were asked if the earnings threshold should be £30 per week 

(£130 per month) or £50 per week (£217 per month). 63.3% of respondents 

thought the earnings threshold should be £50 per week, with the remaining 36.7% 

considering it should be £30 per week. 

Yes, 67.4%

No, 22.5%

I don't know, 10.1%

Proposal F: Do you think that the Council should remove the current 
three month review period on Universal Credit earnings and replace 

it with a threshold for earnings changes?

Page 98



Appendix 2 

9 
 

 
 

15. Proposal G: All respondents were asked if they thought that the Council should 

introduce a Discretionary Exceptional Hardship Payment Fund?  

 

All respondents were advised that this scheme would provide short-term assistance 

to Council Tax Support claimants facing additional hardship, offering extra financial 

help while directing them to other resources and opportunities to maximise their 

income. 

 

The chart below shows that 76.4% of all respondents thought the Council should 

introduce a Discretionary Exceptional Hardship Payment Fund, 21.3% thought they 

should not, with the remaining 2.2% stating that they ‘did not know’ if the Council 

should introduce a Discretionary Exceptional Hardship Payment Fund. 

       

 
       

£30 per week (£130 
per month) , 36.7%

£50 per week (£217 
per month), 63.3%

Do you think the earnings threshold should be: -

Yes, 76.4%

No, 21.3%

I don't know, 2.2%

Proposal G: Do you think that the Council should introduce a 
Discretionary Exceptional Hardship Payment Fund?

Page 99



Appendix 2 

10 
 

16. Proposal H: All respondents were asked if they agreed that the Council should 

update the 2025/26 scheme in line with Department for Works and Pensions 

uprating?  

 

They were advised that this would be consistent with previous years, aligning the 

scheme with the Department for Works and Pensions’ annual update of allowances 

and premiums for 2025/26. 

The chart below shows that 73.0% of all respondents ‘agreed’ that the Council 

should update the 2025/26 scheme in line with Department for Works and Pensions 

uprating, 11.2% did ‘not agree’, with the remaining 15.7% of all respondents 

stating that they ‘did not know’ if they agreed that the Council should update the 

2025/26 scheme in line with Department for Works and Pensions uprating. 

 

 Responses from precepting authorities 

17. A response was received from the Office of the Lincolnshire Police and Crime 

Commissioner supporting the proposals which both simplify the scheme for 

claimants and are likely to lead to efficiencies in administering the scheme. 

 

18. A response was also received from Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) stating that 

as a major preceptor, any changes to the scheme can have a significant impact on 

the council tax received by LCC, which in turn can impact on the services LCC is 

able to provide to Lincolnshire residents. In response to the proposed changes to 

the scheme, LCC is supportive of the move to modernise the scheme, making it 

simpler for the council taxpayer, and to generate operational efficiencies. They do 

not support the change to vary the level of support to families.  Whilst they 

recognise the need to support those groups most vulnerable in our community, the 

government is providing continued funding to support anyone who is vulnerable 

and not able to pay for essentials via the Household Support Fund.  The proposed 

change to the scheme will reduce the income LCC receives from council tax, which 

Yes, 73.0%

No, 11.2%

I don't know, 15.7%

Proposal H: Do you agree that the Council should update the 
2025/26 scheme in line with DWP uprating?

Page 100



Appendix 2 

11 
 

in turn will reduce the budget available to spend on services LCC provides to 

vulnerable groups and other essential services such as highway maintenance. It is 

assumed that the introduction of an Exceptional Hardship Fund, will be managed 

outside of the council tax support scheme, with no impact on council tax collected 

on LCC’s behalf as a precepting authority. 

 

Contact:  

For more information relating to this report contact: 

• Jackie Todd, Consultation Officer at jackie.todd@e-lindsey.gov.uk or 01507 

601111 

Page 101

mailto:jackie.todd@e-lindsey.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report To: Full Council 
 
Date: 20th January 2025 
 
Subject: Outside Body Appointment - Appointment of Director to Public 

Sector Partnership Services Ltd  
 
Purpose: To seek nominations and appoint a Director to Public Sector 

Partnership Services Ltd. To consider future appointment 
arrangements to Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd. 

 
Key Decision: N/A 
 
Portfolio Holder: N/A 
 
Report Of: John Medler, Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring 

Officer 
 
Report Author: John Medler, Assistant Director for Governance and Monitoring 

Officer 
 
Ward(s) Affected: None 
 
Exempt Report: No 

 

 
Summary 
 
This report details that a vacancy is due to arise for a Boston Borough Council appointed 
Director on the Public Sector Partnership Services (PSPS) Ltd Board of Directors and 
seeks nominations from the Council to appoint a replacement Director.  
 
Furthermore the report asks the Council to consider whether future Director 
appointments to PSPS Ltd should be designated as an executive function.  
  

 

 
Recommendations 
 

1. That the Council seeks nominations and makes an appointment to the Public 
Sector Partnership Services Ltd Board of Directors with the appointment to take 
effect from 1 February 2025 for the period up to the Annual Meeting of Council in 
May 2027; and 
 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



 
2. That the Council considers whether future appointments/removals of Directors to 

Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd should be designated as an executive 
function. 

  

 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To ensure that the Council is fully represented on the Board of Directors and can act 
swiftly to make appointments when vacancies arise. 
 

 

 
Other Options Considered 
 
Do not appoint – not recommended. 
 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 In February 2021 the Council agreed to become a shareholder in Public Sector 

Partnership Services Ltd (PSPS). Under the Articles of Association the Council can 
appoint two Directors to the Company’s Board of Directors. 

 
2. Report 
 
2.1 At its meeting on 20 May 2024 the Council appointed Councillors Paul Gleeson and 

David Middleton as Directors of PSPS Ltd for the period up to the Council’s Annual 
Meeting in May 2027. 

 
2.2 Recently on 10 January 2025 Councillor Gleeson tendered his resignation from the 

PSPS Ltd to take effect from the end of January 2025. Accordingly the Council is 
requested to consider appointing a new Director to take office from 1 February 2025 
for the period up to the Annual Meeting of Council in May 2027.    

 
2.3 In accordance with The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)(England) 

Regulations 2000 appointments of individuals to outside bodies are local choice 
functions. This means that they can be (but need not be) the responsibility of an 
authority’s executive. 

 
2.4 Previous appointments to PSPS Ltd have been made by the Full Council (as a non-

executive function). Whilst the circumstances relating to this vacancy enable a timely 
appointment to be made by the Full Council that will not always be the case when 
vacancies arise. Furthermore the Founding Shareholders of PSPS Ltd (ELDC and 
SHDC), following the receipt of legal advice, are currently reviewing the Company’s 
Articles of Association as part of a governance review which may have future 
implications for Director appointments.  

 
 
 

Page 104



2.5 To ensure timely appointments can be made the Council is asked to consider 
whether future Director appointments to PSPS Ltd should be designated as an 
executive function. Such appointments made through executive decision-making 
powers would be subject to the Council’s call-in provisions. 

 
3. Conclusion 

 
3.1. Council is asked to consider the recommendations of this report which aim to ensure 

that the Council is fully represented on the Board of Directors and can act swiftly to 
make appointments when vacancies arise. 

 

Implications 

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
 
The work of PSPS Ltd supports delivery of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils 
Partnership‘s Sub Regional Strategy and wider work programme 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
The work of PSPS Ltd supports delivery of the Council’s Corporate Priorities 
 
Staffing 
 
None 
 
Workforce Capacity Implications 
 
None 
 
Constitutional and Legal Implications 
 
As set out in the report. 
 
Data Protection 
 
None 
 
Financial 
 
None 
 
Risk Management 
 
None 
 
Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescales 
 
None 
 
 
 

Page 105



Reputation 
 
None 
 
Contracts 
 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None 
 
Equality and Diversity / Human Rights / Safeguarding 
 
None 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
None 
 
Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
None 
 
Acronyms 
 
ELDC – East Lindsey District Council 
PSPS – Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd 
SHDC – South Holland District Council 
 
Appendices  
 
None 
 
Background Papers 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report.  
 
Chronological History of this Report 
 
Details of current appointments are set out in the report 
 
Report Approval 
Report author: John Medler, Assistant Director for Governance and 

Monitoring Officer 
 john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk  
Signed off by: John Medler, Assistant Director for Governance and 

Monitoring Officer 
 john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk  
Approved for publication: N/A 

Page 106

mailto:john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk

	Agenda
	C. Minutes
	Minutes
	41 Questions from Elected Members

	1 Members' Allowances Scheme
	Appendix 1 - Report of IRP
	Appendix A - Draft Members' Allowance Scheme 2025 - 2028

	2 Audit & Governance Committee Minutes
	3 Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2024/25
	Appendix A - Treasury Management Mid Term Report 2024-25

	4 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26
	Appendix 1 - Local Council Tax Support Scheme
	Appendix 2 - Local Council Tax Support Scheme

	5 Outside Body Appointment - Appointment of Director to Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd

